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THERE IS NOTHING THAT’S MORE REASSURING THAN A SYSTEM THAT WORKS. 

REGULARITY AND PREDICTABILITY GIVES THE IMPRESSION THAT 

EVERYTHING IS RUNNING BY ITSELF.

BUT AS ALWAYS, WHAT SEEMS SIMPLE AND EASY FOR SOME IS OFTEN THE 

RESULT OF THE RELENTLESS EFFORTS OF OTHERS. 
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1984 – ESTABLISHED UNDER THE NAME MICRO DESIGN

1986 – CONTRACT WITH NORWEGIAN PUBLIC ROADS ADMINISTRATION

1988 – FIRST FREE FLOW TOLLING SYSTEM OPERATIONAL

1990 – CONTRACT FOR OSLO TOLL CORDON

1991 – CONTRACT FOR TRONDHEIM TOLL CORDON

1995 – 5.8 GHz SYSTEM INSTALLED IN PORTUGAL

1997 – ESTABLISHMENT OF THE EUROPEAN CEN DSRC STANDARDS

1999 – BREAKTHROUGH IN BRAzIL AND AUSTRALIA

1999 – AUTOPASS CONTRACT AWARDED Q-FREE

2002 – IPO, LISTED AT OSLO STOCK ExCHANGE

2003 – INTRODUCTION OF FULLY AUTOMATIC TOLL COLLECTION

2005 – STOCKHOLM CONGESTION TAx SYSTEM DELIVERED

Camping was never the intention when we bought a caravan some 20 years ago.

Our idea was simply to be close to the test site of our first project. For a summer 

the nine square meters were home to ten engineers.

The caravan is gone. But in search of innovation we are constantly on the move.

HISTORY
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KEY FIGURES

KEY FIGURES IFRS

NOK 1,000 2004 2005 2006 2007

Profit & Loss Account

Operating revenue 291,803 509,160 386,942 410,854

COGS 137,615 233,300 154,104 160,981

OPEx 154,540 154,174 186,450 212,022

EBITDA -352 121,686 46,387 37,852

EBIT -18,901 105,371 29,373 20,875

PROFIT BEFORE TAx -25,874 118,674 45,024 14,555

PROFIT AFTER TAx -26,811 112,316 33,868 5,015

GM % 52.8 % 54.2 % 60.2 % 60.8 %

EBITDA % -0.1 % 23.9 % 12.0 % 9.2 %

EBIT % -6.5 % 20.7 % 7.6 % 5.1 %

Selected balance sheet items 

Intangible fixed assets 11,172 11,780 23,288 40,320

Tangible fixed assets 37,495 42,083 45,274 53,406

Cash 58,581 166,518 162,174 124,283

Total assets 358,851 429,518 426,395 393,055

Equity (incl minority ) 197,274 241,000 295,505 300,596

Intereste bearing liabilities 4,469 4,022 3,392 2,992

Key figures per share (NOK)

Earnings per share, ordinary -1.90 1.84 0.62 0.03

Earnings per share, diluted -1.89 1.83 0.62 0.03

Cashflow 0.77 3.96 0.35 -0.24

Book equity per share 3.90 4.74 5.71 5.75

Average no of shares (thousand) 50,618 50,809 51,779 52,274

Other key figures

Order backlog 339,930 224,000 293,573 371,356

Return on Invested Capital (ROIC) 0.81 1.19 0.91 1.06

Net interest bearing liabilities 4,469 4,022 3,392 2,992

Cash flow from operations 39,155 201,082 18,354 -12,718

Operational investment 9,697 15,793 14,951 25,164

Equity ratio 55% 56% 69% 76%

Gearing 1% 1% 1% 1%

Average number of employees 180 181 188 198
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POSITIONING FOR PROFITABLE GROWTH 

Since being given the honour of taking the position as 

CEO in September 2006, 2007 has been my first full 

year in Q-Free. And for all of us who are involved in 

Road User Charging (RUC) it has truly been an exiting 

year. The RUC industry has great opportunities with a 

lot of unexploited potential. With a prosperous industry 

comes all the challenges that characterise a growing 

international business such as global operations, political 

uncertainties, growth, innovation, increased competition 

and so on. 

It is important to mention that RUC is a relatively young 

but maturing industry. During 2007 the RUC industry 

has taken many steps in the right direction, one of the 

more interesting being that the most developed RUC 

markets have gone from an innovation to a growth phase. 

Privatisation of RUC concessions seems to increase 

focus on operational efficiencies among RUC operators, 

and this is fuelling growth in Q-Free sales. France is 

an example of a market that has more or less finalised 

the privatisation process during 2007. In these most 

developed RUC markets, several of Q-Free’s customers 

are now evaluating the company’s solution for Multilane 

Free Flow, which is practically a fully automated toll plaza. 

Introducing RUC solutions in urban areas to reduce traffic 

and pollution has become an even hotter issue in 2007. 

Stockholm has decided to carry on with the city’s RUC 

solution on a permanent basis after a trial period in 2006. 

The City of London has opened a public procurement for 

the purchase of a new RUC solution. For us in the RUC 

industry it is very inspiring to see that congestion 

THE PRESIDENT’S CORNER

“2007 HAS BEEN A YEAR IN 

THE NAME OF CHANGES FOR 

Q-FREE”
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charging in urban areas is debated on a daily basis in 

the media, internationally as well as nationally. Taxation 

of heavy goods vehicles (HGV) is also a market segment 

that is expected to grow, and in 2007 two European 

nation wide RUC systems for HGV have been announced 

for tender. Asia is still experimenting with different RUC 

technologies. The region has a huge potential for growth 

of RUC solutions since the use of manual collection 

systems are common throughout the region. The fact that 

Q-Free was awarded a contract to build a RUC solution 

on a highway in Bangkok, Thailand, is considered a major 

breakthrough in this market. We hope that the decision to 

build an electronic RUC solution in Bangkok will influence 

the rest of the region in the same direction. 

One of the main tasks for Q-Free is to prepare the 

organisation for further growth, and as a result of this, 

2007 has been a year in the name of changes for Q-Free. 

A new group management with extensive international 

business experience is in place. Further enhancement 

and professionalization of the whole organisation is 

well under way. Other important achievements include 

the implementation of a new sourcing strategy and a 

strengthening of the sales organisation by hiring new, 

experienced sales personnel.

Based on our experience and the trends we see in the 

market, we believe that the growth in the different RUC 

markets worldwide will have different timing. In addition 

we believe that the RUC market will be segmented 

globally according to today’s deployment of different RUC 

technologies. Consequently we must be able to

offer different RUC technologies that currently dominate 

different markets worldwide in order to position Q-Free 

as a truly global player in the short to medium term. We 

strongly believe in a universal RUC technology through 

initiatives for future standards like CALM, but these 

platforms are still a few years ahead. As the industry 

develops we also see that customers are getting more 

solution oriented with focus on increased efficiencies 

of their RUC system rather than technologies. In light 

of these factors we believe that positioning Q-Free as 

a technology independent supplier of RUC solutions 

is the right choice. Q-Free will leverage on its existing 

position and business know-how to extend our offering 

with all major RUC technologies. We think that horizontal 

consolidation is the way to grow faster and more 

smoothly in the years to come. Increased investments 

in R&D, potential Mergers & Acquisitions and strategic 

partnerships are important measures to position Q-Free 

as the preferred RUC supplier regardless of where you 

are in the world or which technology that is in use.

With Q-Free’s unique track record and today’s strong 

position in an industry where the global market will grow 

in the years to come, I strongly believe that by gradually 

positioning Q-Free as a technology independent RUC 

solution provider, the company will take a considerable 

share of the upcoming RUC market. 

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to state that 

I am both humble and proud to be representing an 

organisation that is more than willing to go the extra mile 

required to add unique value to its customers.

Øyvind Isaksen

President and CEO

Sign.
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THINK GLOBALLY AND ACT 

LOCALLY IS THE Q-FREE WAY
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MARKET

The market for RUC solutions is still at an early stage and 

a double-digit annual growth percentage is expected 

in the years to come. According to an industry analyst 

report1, the global Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) 

market is growing globally with a Compounded Annual 

Growth Rate (CAGR) of 14.32% and with RUC as the 

fastest growing segment with a CAGR of 25.4%. In a 

handful of the most developed RUC markets the industry 

are now transitioning from innovation to growth. It is 

expected that more and more RUC markets will enter 

the growth phase in the years to come. When a market 

has adopted a RUC technology, the growth phase is 

expected to last for at least eight to ten years. 

The most important market drivers for RUC solutions 

can be segmented as i) financing of infrastructure, ii) 

efficiency of existing RUC solution and iii) congestion 

management. Financing of infrastructure is a strong driver 

since private equity through government concession 

or private public partnership contracts is increasingly 

involved to finance, build and operate roads, bridges, 

etc. Private equity gets return on investments through 

RUC. As more private equity participate in RUC systems, 

Q-Free has experienced a growing attention to efficiency 

amongst RUC operators. The largest efficiency potential 

right now is to convert from manual RUC systems to 

electronic solutions. The next step to come will be to 

expand the services offered to road users. Congestion 

management has been increasingly debated over the 

last years.  The objective of congestion management is 

to reduce traffic and thereby reduce pollution in urban 

areas. Making the most of existing urban infrastructure 

to increase mobility, and hence time efficiency, is equally 

important. Reduction of traffic by means of RUC solutions 

became even more relevant during 2007. RUC solutions 

are currently being considered in a number of large 

cities throughout the world. In Sweden a decision was 

made in 2007 to continue the so-called congestion tax in 

Stockholm, and London opened a procurement process 

in 2007 for the purchase of a new congestion charging 

system. For both cities, the introduction of congestion 

charging has turned out to be a very positive experience 

with a considerable drop in pollution levels and increased 

mobility. Stockholm has reduced traffic in

BUSINESS REVIEW:

Q-Free is positioned as a leading supplier of technology, 

products and solutions for Road User Charging (RUC) in 

Europe, Asia-Pacific and Latin America.  During 2007 the 

company has further enhanced its position as a preferred 

supplier in an industry that is just starting the transition 

from innovation to growth. Going forward Q-Free will 

continue to leverage on its current position within the RUC 

market to become a true global player that brings unique 

value to its customers.

1Intelligent Transportation Systems, a global Strategic Business Report by Global 
Industry Analysts Inc of July 2007.
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the city centre by 20-25 percent and travelling time during 

rush hours is reduced by 30-50% 

(www.stockholmsforsoket.se). The financial surplus from 

the congestion charging systems in Stockholm and 

London is invested in other measures to increase mobility 

such as availability of public transport, dedicated bicycle 

lanes, etc. Based on the magnitude of forces that are in 

play to drive the RUC in general ahead, Q-Free expects 

that the industry is facing sustainable growth. 

Q-Free observes that the most developed RUC markets 

are entering into a growth phase. These markets 

are characterized by privatization of most highway 

concessions, strong competition amongst RUC operators, 

customer driven RUC operators and a high focus on 

solutions and services. A good example of a market 

that is entering the growth phase is France. In France, 

the last step in the privatization process of the highway 

concessions was concluded in 2007 and Q-Free’s 

order intake in France has increased in parallel with the 

privatization process. Another change in a growth market 

is that the RUC operators themselves take initiatives 

to obtain technical and operational interoperability 

through certification procedures of equipment, roaming 

agreements and similar measures.  

Q-Free sees many parallels between the RUC industry 

today and the telecom industry a few decades ago when 

telecom companies went from being governmentally 

owned to becoming public companies. The result was a 

boosted customer focus, an increase in services, roaming 

agreements, more rapid development of technologies 

and higher levels of investments in new infrastructure.

Based on its leading position and know-how in the RUC 

market, Q-Free’s ambition is to capture a major share of 

the growing RUC market by bringing increased added 

value to its customers. 

RUC TECHNOLOGIES AND THEIR DEPLOYMENT

The RUC market is segmented globally by its use of RUC 

technology. The main technologies employed are DSRC, 

RFID, GNSS, ANPR and MTC. The following offers an 

overall description of the different technologies and their 

spread geographically.

 

CONGESTION CHARGING SUCCESS IN 

LONDON LEADS TO SYSTEM UPGRADE 

IN 2008.  

AFTER INTRODUCING CONGESTION 

CHARGING IN 2002, LONDON HAS NOW 

ISSUED A PUBLIC TENDER FOR A SYSTEM 

UPGRADE. 
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i) DSRC stands for Dedicated Short Range Communication. 

It is a technology that follows European CEN and 

ETSI standards dedicated for RUC purpose. The cars 

communicate with the charging point through an OBU 

installed in the windshield of the vehicle. The CEN DSRC 

is an active microwave communication link and the OBU 

has processing capabilities for active communication 

and security. DSRC based systems are widely used 

and successfully implemented in large scale in Europe, 

Australia, and Latin America. 

ii) RFID stands for Radio Frequency Identification. 

RFID is similar to the CEN DSRC solution except that 

OBUs usually do not have processing power. Popularly 

said the DSRC OBU has active components and the 

RFID OBU has only passive components meaning that 

a RFID based OBU does not need an internal energy 

source such as a battery. In some markets the RFID OBU 

is called a sticker tag. RFID is mainly used in some RUC 

systems in North America.

iii) GNSS stands for Global Navigation Satellite System. 

All systems based on GPS and Galileo are classified as 

GNSS. RUC systems based on GNSS require an OBU in 

the vehicle that positions the vehicle and by some other 

means (DSRC, GPRS) reports its positions and movement 

to the RUC operator. The RUC market where the GNSS 

based system is being used is the RUC system for heavy 

goods vehicles, more specifically the German HGV 

system.

iv) ANPR stands for Automatic Number Plate Reading. 

ANPR technology is based on digital video images of the 

vehicle’s number plate and software that automatically 

reads the vehicle’s license number. ANPR based systems 

are used in some congestion charging systems such 

as in Stockholm and London. ANPR is also used as 

enforcement measures in RUC systems based on the 

above described technologies.

v) MTC is an abbreviation for Manual Toll Collection systems. 

MTC is basically that collection of the charge from the 

road user is done manually or semi manually. Manually 

means that there are personnel in a toll booth that collects 

the charge and semi manually means that the manual 

collection are supported by some technologies like 

classification equipment, coinmachine and enforcements 

cameras. MTC has been in use for decades and is widely 

in use in markets that introduced RUC a long time ago as

STOCKHOLM DECIDED IN 2007 TO DEPLOY THE 

RUC SOLUTION ON A PERMANENT BASIS. 

Q-FREE IS THE TECHNOLOGY SUPPLIER AND THE 

DELIVERY IS THE COMPANY’S FLAGSHIP WHEN IT 

COMES TO A VIDEO BASED RUC SOLUTION. 
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CALM PROVIDES A LAYERED SOLUTION THAT ENABLES 

CONTINUOUS (OR QUASI CONTINUOUS) COMMUNICATIONS 

BETWEEN VEHICLES OR BETWEEN VEHICLES AND THE 

INFRASTRUCTURE. 

The principles of CALM architecture and standards are 

predicated on the principle of making the best possible 

use of the resources available: CALM uses the optimal 

wireless telecommunications media that are available in 

any particular location, and have the ability to switch to a 

different media when necessary.
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In these markets some DSRC suppliers with a low market 

share are trying to gain position by pricing their products 

low. This has resulted in increased margin pressure in 

some of the RUC markets. In Q-Free’s opinion, price 

dumping is not a sustainable positioning strategy since 

the leading DSRC suppliers, including Q-Free, have 

much higher sales volumes and leverage on already 

existing economies of scale, and even more so when 

more markets are entering a growth phase.

Another change in the market is that RUC operators seem 

to be more open to consider different RUC technologies, 

or even combine technologies, to get an optimum solution 

according to their operating requirements. This opens 

up for direct competition between different technologies 

such as DSRC versus ANPR or a combination of these 

two technologies. 

In recent years, some RUC technology and solution 

suppliers, i.e. vendors in direct competition with Q-Free, 

have included operation of RUC systems in their business 

model. As far as Q-Free understands, they claim to have 

an added value due to high level of vertical integration. 

Q-Free sees this as a potential for a conflict of interests 

with today’s customers. Based on this, Q-Free will 

continue to maintain its focus as a RUC technology and 

solution provider. 

The public listing of Kapsch Trafficom AG, one of 

Q-Free’s competitors, in the second quarter of 2007, has 

contributed to further increased interest in the industry in 

general. 

Q-FREE’S COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES AND KEY 

COMPETENCES

Q-Free originates from Norway, Scandinavia. In the 

1980s, Norway was facing huge and not yet funded 

investments in new road infrastructure. The huge 

investments compared with the size of the population 

were due to the country’s geographically widespread 

industry and population. The only solution already at that 

time was to raise funds through bank loans with the 

government as guarantor. The debt was to be paid back 

through RUC. In other words, this was an early model

of public-private partnership. However, the government

well as in emerging markets. MTC is currently deployed in 

large scale in North and South America, Asia Pacific and 

East and South Europe. Upgrade of these MTC systems 

represents an unexploited potential in the RUC industry.

The RUC market in Asia is still in an innovation phase and 

it is too early at this point to predict which technologies 

will become predominant in Asia. Most likely local variants 

of the above technologies will be used. However, when 

Q-Free was awarded in 2007 a contract to build a modern 

RUC solution on a highway in Bangkok, a milestone in 

this region was reached.  Q-Free hopes that this contract 

award will influence the market in this region in a positive 

direction.  

The above described technologies are industrialized, 

and technology innovations are expected to be limited to 

improvements of price/performance ratio. The technology 

that Q-Free expects to become a universal RUC solution 

in the long term is the CALM (Communication Access for 

Land Mobiles) standard. Q-Free is one of the initiators of 

CALM, and is committed to the concept since it will bring 

the current DSRC technology seamlessly into the future. 

The CALM group thinks that users of DSRC are already 

prepared for the next big leap in ITS technology, and 

that all applications in the ITS environment can migrate 

smoothly to this new platform. Commercial products 

based on CALM are still a few years ahead but in the 

long term the technology will become an important and 

universal platform for RUC as well as other ITS solutions. 

Q-Free has taken a leading role in defining the CALM 

standards and has already, as the first company in the 

world, demonstrated prototypes at an international ITS 

convention. 

COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT 

Companies that are in direct competition with Q-Free 

are companies that offer products and solutions that are 

essentially similar to Q-Free’s, or substitutes. However, Q-Free 

has a unique and long track record in the industry and is one 

of the few, if not to say the only company worldwide, which 

focuses solely on RUC technology and solutions.

The DSRC based RUC market is the most developed

RUC market today, and some of the DSRC based RUC

markets are entering the growth phase such as France. 
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functions. Over the years the company has seen that 

it has brought considerable value to its customers 

through local presence. In addition to it’s headquarter 

in Norway, Q-Free is currently present in 17 countries 

and this number is expected to grow in the near future. 

Countries where Q-Free has local presence in addition 

to Norway includes France, UK, Spain, Portugal, Greece, 

Italy, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia, China, Malaysia, 

Australia, Turkey, Sweden Chile and Brazil.

 

 

As the RUC global market is segmented according to the 

deployment of different technologies, Q-Free will position 

itself further as a technology independent supplier to 

capture future growth by being a true global player. In 

order to be a true global supplier Q-Free considers a 

broad portfolio covering the main RUC technologies to 

be a necessity. The company will leverage on its leading 

position within DSRC and its long lasting experience 

in the RUC business to become a major player within 

all RUC technologies that are offered in the global 

RUC market. Expanding the company’s technology 

and product portfolio will be done in combination 

with increased R&D activities, M&A and by strategic 

partnership with other ‘best of breed’ players in the 

industry.  Another objective of the increased R&D and 

strategic partnerships is to maintain a leading edge 

technology within the industry. With this strategy Q-Free 

aims to be a leading player also when it comes to 

horizontal consolidation within the RUC industry.

Standardization plays an important role in the success of 

realised early on, that to get the required return on 

investment and user acceptance, the RUC systems had 

to be fully automated. That is how Q-Free entered the 

RUC business as early as in 1986. Norway is still one of 

the most developed RUC markets and one of the front 

runners in applying RUC. The government is considering 

to introduce a third generation congestion charging 

system in all main cities.

Entering the RUC market with leading edge technology as 

early as in 1986 and in a first mover home market, gave 

Q-Free the opportunity to leverage on its extensive RUC 

know-how to go internationally. Since then the company’s 

reference base has grown long and impressive. Q-Free is 

proud to be one of the few companies worldwide, if not to 

say the only company, to focus only on RUC technology 

and solutions. The company’s sole focus on RUC seems 

to be appreciated by its customers. Being a pioneer 

in the industry has given Q-Free and its customers 

the opportunity to build and maintain a sustainable 

competitive advantage.

Depending on the different market demands, Q-Free has 

played various roles in the value chain over the years 

such as component supplier, systems supplier or system 

integrator. The company’s capabilities to integrate third 

party components as well as tailored system designs 

have been a key factor for its long term business relations 

with RUC operators. RUC systems are handling a huge 

amount of transactions often 24/7, and extremely high 

reliability of product and services is of major importance 

to Q-Free’s customers.

STRATEGY GOING FORWARD

Q-Free’s ultimate and long term goal is to be a preferred 

supplier independent of which RUC technology and 

solution the customers are looking for. One of the means 

to obtain this ambitious goal is to continue to further 

develop Q-Free’s customer oriented strategy. Think 

globally and act locally is the Q-Free way, and this 

attitude is appreciated by customers globally. Acting 

locally requires local presence in the targeted markets 

and Q-Free has in 2007 continued to increase its footprint 

globally through a stronger sales force and

local operational organization dedicated to customer care

Chile

Brasil
Australia

China

Norway

Sweden
UK

France
Spain

Malaysia

Thailand

Indonesia
Singapore

Portugal Italy
Greece

Turkey

Global market presence
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Over the previous years, the company has increased its 

R&D investments. In parallel with stepping up the

R&D activity, the R&D organization has been build 

up accordingly. A new Vice President Research & 

development has been recruited as well as other key 

personnel that has extensive technology know-how. 

Q-Free expects to capitalize further on the R&D efforts by 

launching a new DSRC product family.  Due to the unique 

know-how that is consolidated in the company after more 

than 20 years in the RUC industry, the R&D department in 

Q-Free holds key positions in standardization work such 

as CALM.

As highlighted previously the overall goal is to position 

Q-Free as the preferred supplier independent of the RUC 

technology or solution demanded by the customers. 

This implies that the company will continue to extend 

its product portfolio considerably. To manage this 

challenge Q-Free has established a product management 

organization. Product management is a group consisting 

of experienced staff dedicated to defining and supporting 

Q-Free’s product offering whether it is a product 

developed by internal R&D or offered to the market 

through strategic partnerships. Q-Free is confident that 

product management will add considerable value to its 

customers.

any large-scale deployment of RUC technology.  

Large-scale deployment usually requires interoperability 

of equipment and systems coming from many different 

manufacturers. This includes certifications, compliance 

testing and security. Based on this Q-Free will continue 

to dedicate considerable efforts to international 

standardization by taking a leading position in 

standardization work. Q-Free was one of the leading 

players in defining the European DSRC standard and 

Q-Free is now doing the same with reference to the 

CALM/ WAVE initiative, ref. previous description of CALM.  

OPERATIONAL UPDATE

A key area of improvement in 2007 has been to 

professionalize and build an organization for growth. 

Operational efficiencies are keys to success in a market that 

is expected to be in a growth phase in the years to come. 

To leverage on Q-Free’s proven capabilities of high 

volume supplies, the management has put focus on the 

improvement of supply chain capabilities during 2007 

and this effort will become even more important in the 

next years. The Company sold 75% more OBUs in

2007, compared with in 2006. Taken into account that 

Q-Free did not deliver any large projects in 2007, this is a 

considerable growth compared to previous years. Q-Free 

has hired a new Vice President Operations with extensive 

experience in similar industry. One main task for Q-Free’s 

supply chain organization in 2007 has been to outsource 

manufacturing to contract manufacturers in Asia as well 

as improve efficiencies with Q-Free’s existing contract 

manufacturer partners. The company is now starting 

to capitalize on these efforts and the work to further 

strengthen these partnerships will continue in the years 

to come. 

Increase of the company’s sales capabilities is an 

integral part of preparing for profitable growth. In 2007 

considerable efforts have been made to strengthen the 

company’s sales force. A new Vice President Sales with 

broad international sales experience as well as senior 

international sales staff have been recruited and internal 

staff with unique industry know-how has joined the sales 

force.
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VP SALES
Per Fredrik Ecker

Vice President Sales, Mr Ecker (born 1969) has been 
with the company since 2007. He comes from the 
position as Sales Director in Siemens Mobile Networks 
(1992 - 2007) with responsibility for Eastern European 
markets in particular. Mr. Ecker has extensive 
experience from international sales both in Asia and 
Europe. He is educated by The Norwegian Army 
Officers Training School (1986-1989) as Second 
Lieutenant in Electronics.

CEO
Dr. Øyvind Isaksen

President and Chief Executive Mr Isaksen Officer (born 
1963), has held the position as CEO since 2006. He has 
a PhD in Physics (University of Bergen 1994). 
Dr. Isaksen has held positions as President of Nera 
Networks (2002 - 06) and President of Roxar Flow 
Measurement. He has also held management positions 
in i.a. ABB Research and Fluenta.

QM MANAGER
Steinar Furan

QM manager, Mr. Furan (born 1963) has been 
employed since 1990 and holds an engineering degree 
in electronics (Trondheim Ingeniørhøyskole 1984 and 
University of Tromsø 1987). He has extensive 
experience in various senior positions within the 
company including project and business unit 
management and he is now responsible for 
maintaining and improving Q-Free’s Quality 
Management and Environmental Management Systems. 
Q-Free’s Quality Management System and 
Environmental Management System are certified in 
accordance the requirements of ISO 9001 and ISO 
14001 respectively.

VP R&D
Dr Hans Christian Bolstad

Vice President R&D, Mr. Bolstad (born 1962) has been 
employed in his current position since 2007. Bolstad 
holds a MSc. in Physics and Mathematics 1987; and 
a Ph.D. in physical electronics from NTNU (Norwegian 
University of Science and Technology, 1994). Bolstad 
has extensive experience within research and 
development from telecom, medical and offshore 
sectors through his work at NTNU, Sintef, Optomed, 
Optoplan and Q-Free ASA .

VP OPERATION
Marianne Sandal

Vice President Operations, Mrs Sandal (born 1965) has 
been with the company since 2006. She holds an engi-
neering degree from the University of Bergen (1988), in 
addition to credits within management from Norwegian 
School of Management (BI). Marianne Sandal has 
extensive experience in project management. Working 
in Nera Networks since 1988, she was heading the 
world wide operations activity of Nera from 2003.

CFO
Finn Øistein Nordam

Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Nordam (born 1961) has 
been employed since 2007. He comes from the 
position as CFO of Samlerhuset Group BV. Nordam has 
extended financial experience from Kværner ASA, 
London, and ABB Group in Norway and Sweden. 
Nordam holds an MBA in International Business (Bodø, 
1989) in addition to studies in marketing and 
organization at the Mannheim University, Germany.

PRESENTATION OF THE ExECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM

HR MANAGER
Stein Tore Nybrodahl

HR manager, Mr Nybrodahl (born 1965) is Q-Free’s 
Human Resource Manager and started with the com-
pany in 2006. He holds a Master’s degree in Business 
(Copenhagen Business School, Denmark, 1992) and 
successfully completed the senior executive program 
INSEAD in France (1993). He has extensive HR and 
strategy  experience having held various senior 
management roles at Telenor (Norway), where he 
became director of strategy and HR development. At 
Q-Free, Mr. Nybrodahl is responsible for the planning, 
execution, management and development of the Q-Free 
Group’s human resources.
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System Design
Multilane Free-Flow

Road Side

Central System

Service

On-Board Unit

SYSTEM DESIGN OFFERING

•	 Provider	of	complete	technical	solutions	for	our	customers.

•	 Use	of	well-proven	state-of-the-art	technology	to	build	fully	integrated	solutions	

 ready for operation.

•	 All	solutions	are	based	on	standardized	technology	and	open	system	interfaces.

•	 System	solutions	are	seamlessly	integrated	with	the	customer’s	existing	solutions.

•	 Solutions	that	gives	the	most	efficient	operation	for	the	customer.

MULTILANE FREE-FLOW (MLFF) SYSTEM OFFERING

•	 Efficient	handling	of	traffic	at	free	flow	and	fully	automated	control	gates.

•	 Fully	integrated	with	vehicle	tracking,	secure	payment	and	video	enforcement	system	with		 	

   ANPR. 

•	 Q-Free’s	experience	in	MLFF	goes	back	to	1997,	with	first	installations	in	the	Austrian	Eco	 	

   points project.

•	 Winning	the	Dutch	Rekeningrijden	and	the	chosen	supplier	for	Stockholm	confirms	Q-Free’s	

 leading position in MLFF.

ROAD SIDE OFFERING

•	 Unmatched	precision	and	performance	for	use	in	single-	and	multilane	configurations.

•	 Designed	using	only	state-of-the-art	technology	such	as

 - High-performance DSRC communication.

 - High-resolution digital cameras.

 - Precision detection using laser scanners.

 - Real-time state control of the site. 

 - Fully redundant equipment configuration.

•	 Guaranteed	high	quality	data	and	unmatched	availability.

ON-BOARD UNIT (OBU) OFFERING

•	 On-Board	Units	form	a	vital	part	of	a	RUC	solution.

•	 Q-Free	is	a	market	leader	in	the	development	of	OBUs	for	road	user	charging.

•	 High	performance	and	fully	secure	transactions.

•	 The	Q-Free	OBUs	support	all	profiles	based	on	the	CEN	TC278	standards.

•	 Daily	over	5	million	payments	are	done	using	the	Q-Free	tags.

CENTRAL SYSTEMS OFFERING

•	 Efficient	execution	of	the	business	rules.

•	 All	types	of	automated	payment	are	supported.

•	 All	types	of	subscription,	post-	or	pre-payment,	discounted	accounts	and	special	

 rules are available.

•	 Effective	tools	for	client	management,	planning	and	reporting.

•	 The	Q-Free	central	system	is	deployed	in	large	scale	operations	handling	millions	

 of transactions.

•	 Q-Free’s	central	system	is	operational	in	Australia,	Iceland,	Malaysia	and	Norway.

SERVICE OFFERING

•	 Service	and	maintenance	is	a	vital	part	of	any	technical	operation.

•	 Q-Free	offers	a	range	of	services,	including

 - Preventive maintenance. 

 - Corrective maintenance. 

Q-FREE OFFERING
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ExCELLENCE IN ExECUTION AND 

TRUSTWORTHY BEHAVIOUR
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Q-Free ASA’s management system builds on Norwegian 

company legislation, of which the most important is the 

Public Limited Companies Act. As a company on the 

Oslo Stock Exchange, Q-Free ASA is also subject to the 

Securities Trading Act and the Stock Exchange Act and 

the accompanying regulations, i.e. the Stock Exchange 

Regulations.

Stock Exchange regulations stipulate that listed 

companies must publish a report on their principles 

for Corporate Governance in the Annual Report, in 

accordance with Section 1 of the Norwegian Code of 

Practice for Corporate. 

Q-Free ASA understands Corporate Governance to 

be the principles and guidelines that determine how 

the Company is managed and defines the relationship 

between the shareholders, the Board of Directors and the 

executive management of the Company. These principles 

and guidelines are established to protect the interests 

of shareholders, as well as other stakeholders such as 

employees, customers and suppliers.

CODE OF CONDUCT 

Q-Free ASA is a world leading vendor of RUC solutions 

with worldwide operations characterised by high etical 

standards. The company plans to be the market leader 

by having a customer oriented product portfolio, through 

excellence in execution and by trustworthy behaviour.  

Q-Free ASA has a Code of Conduct (COC) policy which 

is approved by the Board of Directors. The COC gives 

guidelines to how we should behave both internally and 

externally. COC should stimulate ethical awareness and 

be a guideline for everyday actions. 

The COC applies to all members of the Board of 

Directors, executive management, and all other 

employees and representatives of Q-Free ASA 

(“employees”). These guidelines should also be well 

known by customers, suppliers and partners. All 

managers are responsible for the COC being known, 

complied with, and that actions will be taken if codes are 

not adhered to. Each employee has a responsibility to 

read and follow the COC.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Q-Free ASA has established an international business 

based on communication systems for road user charging. 

Implementation of and reporting on Corporate

Governance
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The Board of Directors and the management of 

the Company seek to facilitate the largest possible 

attendance at the General Meeting. In 2007, the Annual 

General Meeting was held on 10 May and shareholders 

representing about 23.09 % of the share capital attended 

in person or by power of attorney. The Board of Directors 

has no intention of putting forward any proposals to 

the General Meeting concerning changes in the voting 

procedures.

Nomination committee

The nomination committee is elected at Q-Free ASA’s 

General Meeting. This is in compliance with the 

Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance.

The task of the nomination committee is to submit a 

nomination to the General Meeting for the election of 

shareholder-elected members of the Board of Directors, 

and to suggest remuneration for members of the Board 

of Directors. The nomination committee consists of three 

members who are shareholders or representatives acting 

on behalf of shareholders. Members of the nomination 

committee are elected for a period of two years. The 

General Meeting may pass regulations governing the 

nomination committee, but there are no such regulations 

at present. 

Q-Free ASA is not aware of the existence of any agreements 

or business partnerships between the Company and 

any third parties in which members of its nomination 

committee have direct or indirect interests. The composition 

of the nomination committee is such as to maintain its 

independence from the Company administration.

Violation of the COC will be subject to disciplinary 

action including possible termination as well as potential 

criminal prosecution. 

In situations where the employee is aware of any 

infringement of the COC he/she shall raise the issue with 

his/her manager. If this is not possible the employee 

should report the infringement directly to the HR 

responsible in Q-Free ASA. Infringement may be reported 

anonymously if desired. 

THE COMPANY’S MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

General Meetings

The General Meeting is the Company’s supreme body, 

and elects the members of the Board of Directors. Q-Free 

ASA observes the notice period set out in the Norwegian 

Public Limited Companies Act, i.e. 14 days’ notice. There 

are no limitations in the Company’s Articles of Association 

or otherwise, concerning the notice period.

The call for the General Meeting is issued in writing via 

mail to all shareholders with registered addresses. To 

register for the General Meeting a shareholder must 

submit a confirmation in writing via mail, fax, or e-mail 

(provided the registration form is a scanned document 

with signature).

The agenda for the General Meeting includes detailed 

information on the resolution to be considered and the 

recommendation from the nomination committee.  Q-Free 

ASA observes the notice period set out in the Norwegian 

Public Limited Companies Act to vote at the General 

Meeting, a shareholder must attend or give 

power of attorney to someone who is attending. A power 

of attorney will only be accepted if submitted by surface 

mail, fax, or e-mail (provided the power of attorney is a 

scanned document with signature). It is not possible to 

vote via the internet or any other way. 
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Nomination committee as at 31 December 2007:

The members of the nomination committee were elected 

for a period expiring on the date of the General meeting 

in 2009.

Corporate Assembly and Board of Directors: 

composition and independence

The Company is not required to have a corporate 

assembly, according to Norwegian law. 

The members of the Board of Directors are elected for a 

period of two years, and the Board of Directors currently 

has six members (two employee representatives). The 

Chairman of the Board of Directors is not elected by the 

General Meeting, but by the members of the Board of 

Directors. Q-Free ASA has chosen to comply with the 

Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act in this matter, 

although the Company recognises that this constitutes 

a deviation from the Norwegian Code of Practice for 

Corporate Governance, which recommends that the 

General Meeting elects the Chairman of the Board of 

Directors. The Chairman is elected for a period of one 

year. The  Deputy chairman is elected by the Board of 

Directors. In the event that the Chairman is absent or 

legally incompetent to chair, the meeting will be chaired 

by the Deputy Chairman. The Company’s executive 

management is not represented in the Board of Directors.

NAME COMPANY SHARES OPTIONS

Harald Arnet Datum AS/Wega AS 0 0

Jan Pihl Grimnes Redback AS 1.425.000 0

Haakon Sæter Silvercoin Industries AS 1.206.500 0

Q-Free ASA is not aware of the existence of any 

agreements or business partnerships between the 

Company and any third parties in which its directors have 

direct or indirect interests. The composition of the Board 

of Directors is such as to maintain its independence from 

the Company’s administration.

The female representation among shareholder-elected 

Board of Directors members is 50%, which is within the 

minimum 40% target set by Norwegian law.
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NAME POSITION, BIOGRAPHICAL DATA AND COMPETENCE
SERVICE 
SINCE

ELECTED 
UNTIL

SHAREHOLDING 
IN Q-FREE ASA

Ole Jørgen 

Fredriksen 

(born 1950)

Chairman of the Board, shareholder elected member. Ole Jørgen 

Fredriksen has over 25 years’ experience in the computer 

hardware and software industry. He was one of the co-founders 

and the President and CEO of ASK, subsequently Proxima and 

InFocus, the leading global projector company.

2002 2009
Shares: 150,000;

Options: 200,000

Christian Albech 

(born 1947)

Member of the Board, shareholder elected member. Christian 

Albech has substantial experience in the information and media 

industries. He heads Telenor Broadcast’s operational activities, 

which consist of Canal Digital, Norkring, Conax and Telenor 

Satellite Broadcasting. Christian Albech comes from the position 

as Senior Vice President of Telenor Broadcast and has extensive 

experience from Telenor’s TV activities. Albech has previously 

headed Telenor’s cable TV activities, and was hired as Head of 

Canal Digital’s forerunner CTV. Mr Albech has widespread 

experience of board management. 

2003 2009
Shares: 0

Options: 100,000

Mimi Kristine Berdal

(born 1959)

Member of the Board, shareholder elected member.

Mimi K. Berdal has a law degree from the University of

Oslo, and runs her own law and consultancy firm, focusing on 

the areas of contract law, company/commercial law, transactions 

and securities trading. From 1991-2005, Berdal was a partner at 

the law firm Arntzen de Besche. Berdal has extensive experience 

from work as a Board Member.

2007 2009
Shares: 0

Options: 50,000

Torild Skogsholm

(born 1959)

Member of the Board, shareholder elected member.

Torild Skogsholm is the Managing Director of Oslo

Sporvognsdrift AS. From 2001-2005, Mrs Skogsholm was the 

Minister for Transport and Communications. She has also held 

positions as political advisor to the Ministry of the Environment 

and Parliamentary Secretary at the Ministry of Transport and 

Communications.

2006 2008
Shares: 0

Options: 100,000

Pål Rune Johansen 

(born 1969)

Member of the Board, employee elected member.

Mr Johansen has been with Q-Free ASA since 2000 and holds 

the position as Global Account Manager. Johansen has extensive 

experience from project management. He holds an MSc.

2006 2008
Shares: 0

Options: 45,000

 
Anders Hagen 

(born 1964)

Member of the Board, employee elected member. Mr Hagen 

holds an MSc in electrical engineering and is heading the Innova-

tion Team at the R&D department. Mr Hagen has been working in 

the Q-Free Group since 1992.

2006 2008
Shares: 0

Options: 45,000

The board of directors as at 31 december 2007:
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management employees. These proposals are also 

relevant for other employees entitled to variable salaries. 

The Board makes comparisons with other companies 

when deciding the terms and conditions and remuneration 

of the CEO. The Board also delimits the scope of the 

remuneration of the executive management team.  

In accordance with The Norwegian Code of Practice 

dated 4. December 2007, the Board of Directors 

committees should be called “komiteer” when they are 

elected by the general meeting and “utvalg” in other 

cases. The Board of Directors has made a resolution 

accordingly, and the change in name is effective. This 

is in line with the proposed implementation of the 8th 

Company Law Directive in Norwegian legislation.

With effect from 14 February 2007, the compensation 

committee is composed as follows:

Ole Jørgen Fredriksen, Chairman                                 

Christian Albech

Pål Rune Johansen                            

Audit committee

The audit committee is appointed by the Board of 

Directors, and its main responsibilities are to supervise 

the Company’s internal control systems and to ensure that 

the auditor is independent and that the annual accounts 

give a fair picture of the Company’s financial results and 

financial condition in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles.

The audit committee reviews the procedures for risk 

management and financial controls in the major areas of 

the Company’s business activities. The audit committee 

receives reports on the work of the external auditor and 

the results of the audit. In addition, the committee reviews 

the Company’s work on Corporate Governance.  

In accordance with The Norwegian Code of Practice 

dated 4. December 2007, the Board of Directors 

committees should be called “komiteer” when they are 

elected by the general meeting and “utvalg” in other 

cases. The Board of Directors has made a resolution 

accordingly, and the change in name is effective. This 

The work of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is elected by the shareholders to 

oversee the executive management and to assure that 

the long-term interests of the shareholders and other 

stakeholders are being served. The Board of Directors 

has the ultimate responsibility for the management of the 

Company and for supervising its day-to-day business 

and activities in general. The main responsibility is 

to determine the Company’s overall vision, goal and 

strategy. The Board of Directors must also ensure that the 

activities are soundly organised and keep itself informed 

about the financial situation of the company, and ensure 

that the management handles risk faced by the Company 

in an appropriate way.

The Company has established ethical guidelines. 

Furthermore, the Board of Directors has established an 

audit committee and a compensation committee. 

The guidelines for the Board of Directors is described in 

the Company’s “Instructions for the Board of Q-Free ASA”. 

The purpose of the instructions is to describe the role and 

functions of the Board of Directors and the interaction with 

the executive management of the Company.

After the Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors 

makes a plan for its work in the coming year, specifying 

numbers of meetings and items to be discussed in each 

meeting. This includes reviewing the overall strategy 

at least once a year, preparing the budget for the 

next year, evaluating management and competence 

needed, making continuous financial reviews and risk 

assessments based on budget or prognoses, as well as 

evaluating the work of the Board of Directors. The Board 

of Directors held 9 meetings in 2007. 

The instructions for the Board of Directors also comprises 

detailed instructions for what information it should 

receive and when the Board of Directors should receive 

information from the executive management.

Compensation committee

The compensation committee makes proposals to the 

Board regarding employment terms and conditions and 

total remuneration of the CEO and other senior 
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Remuneration of the executive management

Q-Frees ASA remuneration policy has always been to pay

market price for the competence needed. Senior 

management personnel receive a basic salary and 

are members of the Company’s pension scheme. The 

General Meeting has authorised an incentive program 

for key personnel in the Company, and by the end of 

2007, 18 employees had been granted share options 

(see under equity and dividends for more information 

about the incentive program). The Board of Directors 

decides the CEO’s salary, bonus, option agreement and 

terms in the event of termination of employment.  The 

bonus and option agreement for the CEO is linked to the 

performance of the Company and the value created for 

shareholders. For more information about remuneration of 

the CEO and other members of senior management, see 

note 8 in the 2007 financial statements. 

In order to meet the Company’s goals, all employees, 

including senior management completes an annual 

performance evaluation. The Board of Directors 

also conducts performance evaluation of the senior 

management in the Company, and if necessary with 

external help. Through these processes, the Board of 

Directors seeks to ensure that the senior management 

is focused on developing the Company according to 

approved strategies.   

SHARES, SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE AND 

SHAREHOLDER POLICY

Equity and dividends

It is Q-Free ASA’s policy to maintain a high equity ratio to 

provide a platform for the Company’s future expansion 

and growth. Based on this assumption, Q-Free ASA 

does not expect any dividend to be paid out to the 

shareholders in the coming years.  

The Board of Directors is authorised to acquire shares 

in Q-Free ASA (own shares) with a nominal value up to 

NOK 1,986,421.88, divided between up to 5,227,426 

shares (10%) each with a par value of NOK 0.38, 

provided that the Company’s shareholding of own 

shares shall not exceed 10% of shares outstanding at 

any given time. The minimum and maximum amount that 

can be paid per share will be NOK 5 and NOK

is in line with the proposed implementation of the 8th 

Company Law Directive in Norwegian legislation. 

With effect from 28.06.2007, the audit committee is 

composed as follows:

Mimi Kristine Berdal, Chairman 

Ole Jørgen Fredriksen 

Torild Skogsholm 

REMUNERATION

Remuneration of the Board of Directors

The Chairman of the Board of Directors receives a yearly 

fixed salary of NOK 200,000 and each shareholder 

elected member receives a yearly fixed salary of NOK 

150,000. The Board of Directors currently consists of 

four elected non-executive members and two employee 

elected members. The employee representatives 

receive a fixed salary of 50% of the remuneration for the 

shareholder elected members, NOK 75,000. Beyond 

the scope of the Board of Directors responsibility, 

Board members could from time to time take on certain 

consultancy projects for the Company. Such projects are 

defined by the Board of Directors and occur on a limited 

basis. Board members are compensated for such work 

separately.

In 2006, the General Meeting authorised a new incentive 

program, including 600,000 stock options to the Board 

of Directors. It is the Company’s opinion that using share 

options as part of the Board of Directors remuneration 

is a good alternative to a high fixed remuneration. Even 

though the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate 

Governance states that the Company should not grant 

share options to the members of the Board of Directors, 

the General Meeting found it necessary based on the 

above mentioned assumptions.   

For more information about remuneration of the Board of 

Directors see note 8 in the 2007 financial statements.

Remuneration of the nomination committee

The chairman of the nomination committee receives a 

yearly fixed salary of NOK 25,000 and each elected 

member receives a yearly fixed salary of NOK 15,000. 
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to the Public Limited Companies Act, Sections 10-4 

and 10-5. The mandate applies from 10 May 2007 

and for a period of two years, which departs from the 

Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance 

– recommending that such mandates should be given 

for a time period of maximum one year. It is Q-Free’s 

opinion that the Codes of Practice are too rigid in this 

matter. If Q-Free ASA was to follow the recommendation, 

the Company would have been constrained to hold the 

subsequent ordinary General Meeting within one year 

from the General Meeting during which the mandate was 

given.  The authorisation regards the implementation 

of a share options scheme in Q-Free ASA, starting in 

2006 and runs for a period of 3 years for key personnel 

and management, and 2 years for shareholder elected 

members of the Board of Directors. A maximum of 

600,000 shares are reserved for shareholder elected 

the members of Board of Directors, and the remaining 

2,100,000 shares are reserved for the share options 

scheme for key personnel and management. No option 

premium will be paid out. The strike price shall equal the 

average rate for the Q-Free ASA shares on the Oslo Stock 

Exchange as at closing time the last 14 days prior to and 

the first 14 days following the ordinary General Meeting 

in the same year as the subscription of the shares. 

For key personnel and management who are awarded 

option rights for a period of 3 years, as much as 1/3 of 

the options can be exercised annually. Consequently, 

as much as ½ of the options can be exercised annually 

for the Board of Directors members elected by the 

shareholders. For newly employed key personnel, 

management and the Board of Directors members, the 

100 respectively. The Board of Directors shall have 

a free hand with respect to methods of acquisition 

and disposal of the Company’s own shares. This 

authorisation is valid to next ordinary General Meeting, 

but not beyond 30th of June 2008.

The Board of Directors is authorised to increase the share 

capital by a maximum of NOK 1,986,421.88 by issuing 

a maximum of 5,227,426 shares (10%) each with a par 

value of NOK 0.38. The Board of Directors is authorised to 

waive the shareholders’ rights of pre-emption according 

to the Public Limited Companies Act, Sections 10-4 and 

10-5, and to determine that non-cash share deposits shall 

be made, hereunder including mergers according to the 

Public Limited Companies Act section 13-5. The Board 

of Directors is authorised to determine the terms and 

conditions for the subscription of shares, and to amend 

the Company’s Articles of Association to reflect the 

increase of the share capital at all times. The authorisation 

shall be valid until the next ordinary General Meeting, but 

not beyond 30 June 2008.

The Board of Directors is authorised to increase the 

share capital of the Company by issuing new shares to 

key personnel (incentive program). The share capital 

may be increased by a maximum of NOK 1,026,000, by 

issuing a maximum of 2,700,000 shares (approximately 

5 %), through one or more private placements with cash 

deposits towards key personnel, management and the 

Board of Directors members elected by the shareholders 

of Q-Free ASA. The Board of Directors is authorised to 

waive the shareholders’ rights of pre-emption according 

NAME POSITION SHARES OPTIONS

Øyvind Isaksen CEO 30,000 675,000

Finn Øistein Nordam CFO 0 150,000

Hans Christian Bolstad VP R&D 0 150,000

Marianne Sandal VP Operations 10,000 150,000

Per Fredrik Ecker VP Sales 0 150,000

Steinar Furan Quality Manager 18,000 45,000

Stein Tore Nybrodahl HR Manager 3,500 45,000

Shares and options in Q-Free ASA held by the Company’s executive management as at 27 March 2008:
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An overview of currently running option schemes is given 

below:

strike price will be determined on the day they join the 

share options scheme. 

See Note 9 in the financial statements for more 

information about the incentive program. 

    

.

 Year 2007 2006

Remaining share options 01.01 1800000

Share options granted 1105000 1800000

Share options exercised 0

Share options expired -490000 0

Remaining share options 31.12 2415000 1,800,000

Portion fully earned 1760000 0

ISSUED SHARE OPTIONS 
PER 31.12.07

STEP 1
02.05.07-07.05.09

STEP 2
02.11.07-07.05.09

STEP 3
02.11.08-07.05.09

TOTAL

No. of shares Strikeprice No. of shares Strikeprice No. of shares Strikeprice
855,000 22,04 905,000 14,73 655,000 NA* 2415,000

Date Type of change Face value 
per share 

(NOK)

Change in share 
capital (NOK)

Share capital after 
change (NOK)

Number of new 
shares issued

Number of 
shares after 

change

12/03/2002 Status at IPO 0.05 684,713.40 2,279,163.40 13,694,268.00 45,583,268.00

05/02/2004 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 4,833.35 2,283,996.75 96,667.00 45,679,935.00

10/03/2004 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 2,500.00 2,286,496.75 50,000.00 45,729,935.00

20/04/2004 Share issue 0.05 227,500.00 2,513,996.75 4,550,000.00 50,279,935.00

10/05/2004 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 4,583.30 2,518,580.05 91,666.00 50,371,601.00

08/06/2004 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 5,966.65 2,524,546.70 119,333.00 50,490,934.00

26/07/2004 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 833.35 2,525,380.05 16,667.00 50,507,601.00

22/09/2004 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 833.35 2,526,213.40 16,667.00 50,524,268.00

19/10/2004 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 6,000.05 2,532,213.45 120,001.00 50,644,269.00

13/01/2005 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 2,666.70 2,534,880.15 53,334.00 50,697,603.00

17/03/2005 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 2,500.00 2,537,380.15 50,000.00 50,747,603.00

02/06/2005 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 500.00 2,537,880.15 10,000.00 50,757,603.00

23/06/2005 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 3,000.00 2,540,880.15 60,000.00 50,817,603.00

04/07/2005 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 1,250.00 2,542,130.15 25,000.00 50,842,603.00

27/07/2005 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 1,250.00 2,543,380.15 25,000.00 50,867,603.00

29/07/2005 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 833.30 2,544,213.45 16,666.00 50,884,269.00

04/09/2005 Exercise of options key personell 0.05 1,250.00 2,545,463.45 25,000.00 50,909,269.00

15/12/2005 Share issue 0.40 17,818,244.15 20,363,707.60 50,909,269.00

15/12/2005 Reduction of share capital (dermerger Fara) 0.38 -1,018,185.38 19,345,522.22 50,909,269.00

30/03/2006 Exercise of options key personell 0.38 3,800.00 19,349,322.22 10,000.00 50,919,269.00

02/05/2006 Exercise of options key personell 0.38 258,780.00 19,608,102.22 681,000.00 51,600,269.00

11/05/2006 Exercise of options key personell 0.38 195,953.46 19,804,055.68 515,667.00 52,115,936.00

12/05/2006 Exercise of options key personell 0.38 60,166.54 19,864,222.22 158,333.00 52,274,269.00

* The strike price shall equal the average price for Q-Free ASA shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange at closing time 
the last 14 days prior to and the first 14 days following the ordinary General Meeting in 2008

Overview of historical development in share capital is given below:
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An overview of currently running option schemes is given 

below:

ISSUED SHARE OPTIONS 
PER 31.12.07

STEP 1
02.05.07-07.05.09

STEP 2
02.11.07-07.05.09

STEP 3
02.11.08-07.05.09

TOTAL

No. of shares Strikeprice No. of shares Strikeprice No. of shares Strikeprice
855,000 22,04 905,000 14,73 655,000 NA* 2415,000

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Freely negotiable shares

Q-Free ASA has no form of restriction concerning 

freely negotiable shares. The Board of Directors has no 

intention of putting forward any proposals to the General 

Meeting concerning restrictions on freely negotiable 

shares.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Q-Free ASA’s customers are public authorities, private 

companies operating under public licences and system 

integrators. The Company’s main risk factors are political 

risk, project risk and financial risk.

Q-Free ASA has developed an effective Quality 

Assurance (QM) system and is certified in accordance 

with the NS-EN ISO-9001 Quality System. The 

Company’s ISO 9001 Certificate covers all areas of the 

normal operations. Q-Free is also certified according 

to the ISO-14001/2004 standard, which means that 

the Company has set up systems for monitoring and 

improving its impact on the external environment.

The Company has established a financial risk 

management policy, based on experience, under which 

it always hedges at least 50 % of its expected foreign 

currency revenues.

The risk factors which Q-Free ASA is subject to are 

closely monitored by the Company and especially by 

the QM Manager, who reports directly to the CEO of the 

Q-Free ASA Group. 

The Company’s Articles of Association can be found at 

the end of this chapter on Corporate Governance.

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

Q-Free ASA wants to maintain an open dialogue with the 

capital market, and arranges regular open presentations 

for investors, analysts and others. Regular information is 

published through the Annual Report and the quarterly 

reports and presentations. The Company aims at 

publishing these reports within six weeks of the end of 

the relevant period, in at least three out of four financial 

quarters. In 2007 the Company complied accordingly. 

Q-Free ASA distributes all information relevant to the 

Equal treatment of shareholders and transactions with 

close associates

Q-Free ASA has only one class of shares and there are no 

voting restrictions. The Board of Directors has no intention 

of putting forward any proposals to the General Meeting 

concerning voting restrictions.

An increase in the Company’s capital might be proposed 

if the Board of Directors decides that this would best take 

care of shareholders’ long-term interests. If possible, the 

Board of Directors will propose a share issue to existing 

shareholders in accordance with rights of pre-emption. 

The Board of Directors is authorised to increase the 

share capital of the Company by issuing new shares to 

key personnel (incentive program), and is authorised to 

waive shareholders’ rights of pre-emption, in favour of 

key personnel for this program. The introduction of an 

incentive program is considered to be in the best interest 

of the shareholders and is explained in the agenda for the 

General Meeting.

The Company’s policy on transactions with close 

associates is based on the requirement that any 

transactions must be at arms length and at market prices. 

Where it is possible, the Company has arranged for a 

valuation obtained from an independent third party. See 

note 8 in 2007 financial statements for more information 

about transactions with close associates. 
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AUDITOR 

The Company’s external auditor is appointed by the 

General Meeting and is responsible for the financial 

audit of the parent company and Group accounts. 

Independent external auditors have also been appointed 

for all subsidiaries of Q-Free ASA, including those outside 

Norway.

The external auditor for Q-Free ASA submits an 

engagement letter to the Board of Directors each year. 

The engagement letter is a plan for the audit of the 

Company and other information to the Board of Directors 

about next year’s audit. The auditor attends at least one 

Board of Directors meeting every year to present and 

comment on its management letter and other reports 

related to the audit it has carried out. The reports 

contain identification of weaknesses and proposals for 

improvement.

Ernst & Young has been the external auditor for Q-Free 

ASA for the last six years and carries out no other 

assignments for the Company which could give rise 

to conflict of interest. The auditor attends the General 

Meeting and informs about the auditor’s report and 

remuneration for the year. This year’s auditor’s report 

follows the notes in the annual report.

For more information about remuneration of the auditor 

see note 8 in the 2007 financial statements. 

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION FOR Q-FREE ASA 

Paragraph 1. 

The Company’s name is Q-Free ASA. The Company shall 

be a public limited company.

Paragraph 2.

The Company’s registered office is in Trondheim, Norway.

Paragraph 3.

The company’s object is to be engaged in research, 

development, production, operation and sales of 

information technology products and systems and 

everything else in this connection

Paragraph 4. 

The share capital of the Company is NOK

share price to the Oslo Stock Exchange. Such information 

is distributed without delay and simultaneously to the 

capital market, the media and on the Company website.

The Company publishes all information concerning Annual 

General Meetings, publication of quarterly reports and 

presentations, other presentations and dividend payment 

dates on the Company website, as soon as they are decided.

It is a primary goal for the Company to maximise 

shareholder value, in such a way that the return on 

investment measured as the dividend and rise in 

the share price, will be at least at the same level as 

alternative investments involving similar risk. Through 

the Annual Report and the quarterly reports and 

presentations, the Company will provide information on 

its major value drivers and risk factors. This will secure 

information for investors and make it possible to evaluate 

the Company’s risk and performance.

The CEO and CFO are responsible for the investor 

relations in the Company and communication with the 

capital market, if necessary together with the Chairman 

of the Board of Directors or appointed members of the 

Board of Directors. Communication with the capital 

market outside regular presentations is handled by the 

CEO and CFO. All information is communicated within 

the framework established by securities and accounting 

legislation and the rules and regulations of the stock 

exchange. 

All information about Q-Free ASA is available on the 

Company’s website: www.q-free.com 

TAKEOVERS

The Company has no measures in place to defend itself 

against takeover bids, but today’s ownership structure 

makes it difficult to take over the Company without an 

agreement with major shareholders. Large institutional 

shareholders and private investors dominate the 

ownership structure, and the 20 largest shareholders own 

about 62 % of the Company.

For the 20 largest shareholders per 31 December 2007, 

see note 25 in the 2007 financial statements.
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remuneration to the Board of Directors.

The election committee consists of three members

who shall be shareholders or representatives for the 

shareholders. The General Meeting elects the members. 

The election committee members are elected for 

two years at a time. The General Meeting can pass 

regulations governing the election committee. 

Paragraph 8. 

Furthermore, the Company legislation at any given time 

shall be applicable.

19,864,222.22, distributed between 52,274,269 

shares, each with a par value of NOK 0.38. 

The Company’s shares shall be registered in 

Verdipapirsentralen (The Norwegian Registry of 

Securities).

Paragraph 5.

The Board of Directors shall have 3-8 members subject to 

the General Meeting’s decision.

The Board of Directors represents the Company, and has 

the right to sign the Company. In addition, the Chairman 

of the Board and one member of the Board jointly have 

the right to sign the Company.

The Board of Directors may grant powers of procuration.

Paragraph 6. 

An Ordinary General Meeting will be held prior to June 

30th.

The Ordinary General Meeting shall handle:

1. Pass resolution of result and balance.

2. Allocation of profit or covering of loss in accordance 

with the stipulated balance and distribution of dividends.

3. Election of members to the Board of Directors.

4. Pass resolution of remuneration for the members of the 

Board.

5. Elect members to the election committee.

6. Pass resolution of remuneration for the members of the 

election committee.

7. Pass resolution of the auditor’s remuneration.

8. Other cases that the Board of Directors submits in 

their summon or as a shareholder wishes to address 

when such is submitted at the latest 3 weeks prior to the 

General Meeting.

9. Other cases that according to Law falls within the 

powers of the General Meeting.

Paragraph 7. 

The Company shall have an election committee. The 

election committee’s task is to submit nomination to the 

General Meeting for the election of shareholder-elected 

members to the Board of Directors, and to suggest
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ONE OF THE MILESTONES FOR 2007  WAS 

THE AWARDING OF A CONTRACT WORTH 

NOK 80 MILLION FOR THE DELIVERY OF A 

RUC SYSTEM IN BANGKOK, THAILAND
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Q-Free is positioned as a leading supplier of RUC 

solutions in Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America. 

The Company’s position is based on a unique foundation 

of national and international implemented projects as 

well as technology and know-how with considerable 

future potential. Q-Free’s solutions include OBUs (On-

Board Units) for vehicles, roadside equipment, software 

for transaction management and related services. The 

Company has also played a major part in the design of 

present and future RUC standards.

MARKET SITUATION

Main features

The market for RUC solutions is still at an early stage. 

Based on the developments in 2007, the Company 

continues to expect a double-digit annual percentage 

growth in the years to come.

The expectation for growth is fuelled among other things 

by an increasing need for new user-financed road 

projects, a need of which is growing proportionally to the 

society’s general need for improved infrastructure. The 

demand for better infrastructure is global, but the rapidly 

growing economies in particular are facing the need for 

large-scale investments in road projects that exceed the 

available governmental funding.

Another important factor that has contributed to the boost 

in the RUC market is the demand for greater efficiency of 

existing RUC solutions. This is particularly noticeable in 

the most developed, but still relatively few RUC markets 

where road concessions have been privatised, and where 

the market is moving from the innovation phase to the 

growth phase. An increased pace in conversion from 

manual to automatic RUC-systems as well as a stronger 

focus on user friendliness enabled by new technology 

is typically followed after a privatisation process.  As a 

result of this Q-Free has seen a distinct increase in orders 

received in connection with after sales in these markets.

In the past few years there has also been an increased 

focus on the need to reduce traffic congestion and the 

negative impact of such congestion on the population 

and the environment in urban areas. The focus on urban 

environment is further enhanced by the ongoing debate 

The Q-Free Group made an operating profit of NOK 20,9 

million (29,4) for 2007, out of operating revenues of NOK 

410,9 million (386,9). During 2007, the management of 

Q-Free ASA has taken action to strengthen its position 

in a growing market. The positive development in both 

existing and new RUC markets (Road User Charging) has 

during 2007 led to a considerable increase in the Group’s 

order backlog, which gives reason to expect business 

volumes to continue to rise throughout 2008. Based on 

this, and on Q-Free’s current position and plans ahead, 

the Board of directors feels optimistic about the future

of the Company and the Group.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 2007
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not normally handle end-user clients directly within this 

market segment, but sells its products via partners whose 

main area of business is parking and access control.

The discussion concerning the possibility of introducing 

ERI (Electronic Registration Identification) based on RUC 

technology, escalated during 2007. The objectives of ERI 

are to facilitate automatic monitoring of vehicles as well 

as reducing tax and toll fraud by making it impossible to 

forge number plates. In some countries an estimated 10 % 

of all number plates are fake. It is the national authorities 

that discuss the introduction of an electronic vehicle 

registry. Consequently a delivery of this type of system 

will be of considerable size if the government decides to 

implement ERI. As long as the Company’s technology has 

a functionality that is suitable to the purpose, Q-Free will 

continue to position itself within this segment. 

The prospects of rapid growth in the market for RUC 

solutions have resulted in a more intense competition. In the 

most developed markets, price competition is increasing 

as several players are bidding for the same projects 

and delivery of OBUs. Due to this competition, more 

technological solutions will become available on the market.

In the future, Q-Free will continue to position itself 

as the preferred supplier, irrespective of the client’s 

technological preferences. The system know-how that 

the Company has built up from years of international 

experience, including the delivery of central systems, 

puts the Company in a favourable position for such a 

strategy. As part of this strategy, the Company will give 

priority to the expansion of the Company’s product 

portfolio both organic and non-organic together with 

strategic partnership with other players in the industry. 

In this respect even more resources will be devoted to 

increase market activities world wide.

Revenues from project deliveries in 2007 were limited, 

while revenues from sale of products to existing RUC 

markets dominated and saw a distinct increase from 

previous years. The Company sold 75% more OBUs in 

2007, compared with in 2006. The orders received for 

OBUs confirm that the most developed RUC markets are 

experiencing growth. 

regarding CO2 emissions. One of the most efficient 

means to achieve a better environment in urban areas is 

to introduce congestion charging in larger cities. 

Following a successful trial in 2006, Stockholm, where 

Q-Free is a technology supplier, decided in 2007 to 

develop the congestion charging solution on a permanent 

basis. London opened a tender process in 2007 to 

update and expand the city’s Congestioon charging 

system. More and more large cities are now considering 

RUC solutions to overcome the issues created by higher 

traffic volumes. 

In the most developed RUC markets, an increased 

focus on efficiency and user-friendliness of existing 

RUC systems has resulted in a growing demand for 

the Company’s solutions for fully-automatic toll stations 

(MultiLaneFreeFlow - MLFF). In 2007, several clients have 

tested the Company’s solutions for this purpose. Q-Free 

is one of two leading suppliers of this type of advanced 

solutions based on the European standard, and has 

made several large deliveries of this type of technology in 

the past, in for example Chile, Australia, Sweden, the UK, 

Portugal, Switzerland and Austria. In the same markets 

there is not only a strong focus on efficiency, but also on 

the actual design of the toll stations as well as increased 

longevity of OBUs. Q-Free will continue to invest 

significantly into research and development to keep the 

lead when it comes to this type of solutions.

A few European countries, such as Germany, Austria, the 

Czech Republic and Switzerland, have introduced RUC 

systems for truck tolling. Domestic truck tolling systems are 

often introduced in countries where there is no RUC system 

already in place. In markets where RUC systems for trucks 

are introduced it is fair to expect other uses of RUC solutions 

to increase over time. Truck tolling is under consideration in 

a number of countries, such as Hungary and Slovakia. 

Another interesting trend is the growing use of RUC 

technology for other related purposes such as parking 

and access control to enclosed areas. This is interesting 

in that new areas of usage consolidate the market 

position of RUC technology and thereby increased

demand for the Company’s products. The Company does
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Hungary and Slovakia have initiated tender processes for 

truck tolling systems. The final RUC solutions for these 

projects are likely to combine different technologies. 

Q-Free will try to position itself for valuable deliveries 

for these national projects, regardless of the technology 

preferred. The Company’s deliveries in Croatia are 

important references for further positioning in a growing 

Eastern-European market. 

There is also increasing activity in Middle Eastern 

countries with respect to RUC solutions, and Q-Free has 

taken actions to position the company in this region.

Asia Pacific represented 11 percent of Q-Free’s revenues 

in 2007. Australia is the most developed market in this 

region, with positive underlying orders received. Q-Free 

expects a continued growth in the use of RUC solutions 

in Australia, and two clients are testing the Company’s 

solutions for fully-automatic toll stations (MLFF). 

In Asia, manual RUC solutions are common, and there 

is a large and unutilised potential in converting today’s 

manual systems into automatic systems.

One of the milestones for 2007 in this region was the 

awarding of a contract worth NOK 80 million for the 

delivery of a RUC system in Bangkok, Thailand. The 

Company is now in the delivery phase of this project. The 

decision-making process in Bangkok took longer than 

expected. Now that a final decision has been made, it 

should reduce the political risk involved in other projects 

in Thailand in particular, and possibly also have a positive 

effect on the entire RUC market in the region. Pursuant to 

the Bangkok contract award, two new RUC projects are 

planned only in Thailand.  

Q-Free is preparing new large and mid-sized projects in 

Thailand, India, Indonesia and the Philippines. China is 

the largest potential RUC market in the region.  

Projects in other countries in the region are developing 

more slowly. Japan is a big market that is currently not 

accessible to Q-Free. This also applies to China which 

recently approved a local Chinese standard.

  

Market prospects in the individual regions

In 2007, Europe represented 83 percent of Q-Free’s 

revenues, making it the Company’s largest market by

far. Norway, Portugal and France are all countries with

established RUC systems and where Q-Free makes 

regular deliveries. These will continue to be important 

markets for Q-Free in the years to come. In 2007 the 

Company received its first order for fully-automatic toll 

stations (MLFF) for Portugal. The French market is also 

expanding, and in addition to several important and large 

orders for OBUs, Q-Free also received its first order for 

delivery of roadside equipment in France. In Q-Free’s 

home market, Norway, new RUC projects steadily emerge 

and as at the beginning of 2008, congestion charging is 

back on the political agenda.

Potential markets for extended use of RUC solutions 

include the UK, Sweden, Greece, Turkey, Italy, Spain and 

Denmark as well as Eastern European countries. 

During 2007 the extensive testing of the Company’s RUC 

solutions for London was finalised. The authorities in the 

city of London subsequently invited to tenders for a new 

RUC system. Q-Free is now bidding for the delivery of 

OBUs to end-client in London as well as participating 

in a consortium competing for the delivery of roadside 

equipment for the new RUC system in London. The 

choice of suppliers is expected during the first half of 

2008. A number of other cities in Great Britain, such as 

Manchester, are considering RUC systems as a mean to 

reduce rush-hour traffic. Q-Free’s market position in Great 

Britain was further strengthened in 2007 by the reception 

of new orders for OBUs in connection with the Tamar 

Bridge RUC project.

In Sweden, the authorities with effect from August 2007 

adopted to introduce RUC in Stockholm on a permanent 

basis following a trial period in 2006. This is an important 

international reference for Q-Free as the Company is 

a technology supplier for this project. This is also the 

Company’s largest reference, where the major part of 

the transactions are based on automatic number plate 

recognition using digital image technology (ANPR) 

delivered by Q-Free. 
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(EBIT) for 2007 totalled NOK 20.9 million, compared 

with NOK 29.4 million in 2006. This reduction reflects an 

increase in operating costs. The increase in operating 

costs is due to more people employed, professionalism 

of the Company’s internal value chain hereunder 

a considerable enhancement of the Company’s 

international sales force.

Net financial items of the Q-Free Group amounted to NOK 

-6.3, compared with NOK 15.7 million in 2006. Disposal of 

shares in the previously de-merged company Fara ASA 

gave a net P&L effect of NOK -15 million.

The Group’s profit before tax was NOK 14.6 million, 

compared with NOK 45.0 million the previous year. Tax 

expenses amounted to NOK 9.5 million, compared with 

NOK 11.2 million in 2006. Tax payable for the year is 4.10 

million.

The annual results for the Group after minority interests 

amounted to NOK 1.3 million, compared with NOK 32.2 

million in 2006. Profit per share after tax amounted to 

NOK 0.03 compared with NOK 0.62 in 2006.

The Q-Free Group had total assets of NOK 393.1 million 

at year-end 2007, compared with NOK 426.4 million 

the year before. In terms of current assets, accounts 

receivables have increased as a result of higher business 

volumes. In terms of fixed assets, intangible assets have 

increased as a result of capitalised R&D activities while 

financial assets are reduced mainly due to disposal 

of shares in the company Fara ASA.  Working capital 

requirements are reduced during 2007 in percentage of 

last 12 months revenues. 

The Group’s equity has increased by NOK 5 million and is 

76 percent of total assets per 31 December 2007.

The Group capitalises costs in connection with product 

development activities. The Group capitalises costs 

in connection with product development activities. 

Capitalised costs for 2007 consist of the development of 

a new generation of OBUs and roadside units as part of 

the Company’s RUC product portfolio.

Latin America represented 6 percent of Q-Free’s revenues 

in 2007. Chile and Brazil are the largest markets for the 

Company on this continent. Considerable opportunities 

are expected in Brazil, both in terms of further 

development of RUC applications and also in relation to

the introduction of electronic number plate recognition 

(ERI). RUC solutions are also under consideration in 

several other countries in the region. 

Q-Free currently does not offer solutions in North 

America, which is the world’s largest RUC market, but 

is keeping tabs on market trends and the status of the 

various market players. The technology standard in North 

America and Japan differs from the rest of the world, 

and the competition is mainly dominated by domestic 

companies. Entering these markets requires considerable 

strategic investments on the part of Q-Free. 

The Company believes that the RUC technology will 

become universal in time. In practice, this is taking place 

through the standardisation work carried out in CALM in 

Europe and WAVE in the US. Q-Free has a leading role 

in this standardisation work and as the first player on the 

market the Company demonstrated the CALM technology 

at an international ITS exhibition in 2007. 

ORDERS RECEIVED AND ORDER BACKLOG

At year-end 2007, Q-Free Group had an order backlog of 

NOK 371.3 million, which is NOK 77.7 million more than at 

year-end 2006. This represents a 26.5 percent increase. 

The order backlog is distributed as follows: Europe 67 

percent, Asia/ Australia 29 percent and Latin America 4 

percent. Orders received in 2007 amounted to NOK 488.6 

million, of which 71.6 percent came from Europe, 25.3 

percent from Asia/ Australia and 3.1 percent from Latin 

America.

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2007

In 2007, The Q-Free Group had operating revenues 

amounting to NOK 410.9 million, compared with NOK 

386.9 million in 2006. 

The Group’s gross margin for the year was 61 percent, 

which is a slight improvement from the year before when 

the gross margin was 60 percent. The operating profit
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Company is represented directly in Australia, Brazil, 

Malaysia, Indonesia, China, Thailand, Spain, Sweden, UK, 

Portugal and France. The Company is also represented 

in Chile, Greece, Italy, Singapore and Turkey. In addition 

to its core area of business, Q-Free owns 53.5 percent of 

Noca AS, a contract electronics manufacturer.

At year-end 2007, the Group had 209 employees, whereof 

109 are employed in Trondheim and in Oslo, 57 in Noca 

AS and 43 in companies outside Norway. A total of 93 

percent of the employees hold a university degree or 

similar, mainly in engineering. 

Improvement measures

In order to enable continued growth for Q-Free and 

to ensure that the Company is prepared to meet the 

demands of a growing RUC market, it is important 

to have an on-going process to professionalize the 

organisation. This has also been a focus area for the 

Company in 2007. Measures include recruiting of key 

personnel with extensive international experience as well 

as enhancing the qualifications of existing personnel. The 

Board considers further development of the Company’s 

employees to be an important strategic effort to position 

the Company in the RUC market.

Working environment and personnel

The Board of Directors considers the working environment 

in the Company to be good, and would like to take this 

opportunity to thank the employees for their contributions 

in this respect. Sick leave in 2007 amounted to 512 days, 

ie. 2.2 percent. No serious occupational incidents or 

injuries were reported during the year.

The Group operates a policy of complete equality 

between male and female workers. The Company 

endeavours to avoid differential treatment based on 

gender. By tradition, Company recruitment is from a 

variety of engineering environments, and currently the 

Group has 22.5 percent female and 77.5 percent male 

employees. The Company fulfils the Norwegian legal 

requirement of a minimum of 40 percent female members 

of the Board of Directors.

At year-end 2007, the parent company had NOK 34.5 

million in distributable reserves.

The Board of Director’s recommendation is that no 

dividends be paid out for the accounting year 2007.

Cashflow and working capital

The Group’s cash reserves at the end of 2007 amounted

to NOK 124.3 million, compared with cash and cash

equivalents of NOK 162.2 million the year before.

The discrepancy between operating profit and cash flow 

from operations is due to a reduction in tax payable, 

working capital increase (increase in accounts receivable 

and reduction of accounts payables) and reduction of 

other short term liabilities.

The Group has satisfactory financial means to initiate 

own investments in technology and projects. During 

2007 the Group has invested a total of 26.8 million in new 

technology to improve future profitability.  

The Group’s current assets are equal to NOK 283.9 

million and short term debt amounts to NOK 89.5 million 

which gives a current ratio of 3.2. The Group has cash 

reserves of NOK 124.3 million, which makes the working 

capital situation satisfactory at balance sheet date. 

Going concern

The Board of Directors confirms that the financial 

statements are prepared on the principle of going 

concern. It is the Board’s opinion that the Profit and 

Loss Account and Balance Sheet with notes provide 

adequate information about operations and the state 

of the Company at year-end. The Board of Directors 

emphasises that there is normally considerable 

uncertainty connected with forward-looking statements. 

Nothing of significance has happened since the turn of 

the year, other than described here. 

ORGANISATION, WORKING CONDITIONS AND 

ExTERNAL ENVIRONMENT

Organisation

Q-Free is headquartered in the city of Trondheim, Norway 

and is present in 17 countries in four continents. The
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non-Norwegian currencies. The Company’s policy is to 

use futures contracts and other hedging instruments to 

reduce its currency risk. 

Credit risk

The Company is exposed to risk of customers not having 

the abilities to fulfil their financial obligations. 

However, this risk is considered to be low as the majority 

of Q-Free’s clients often are large IT companies, public 

authorities and key road concessionaires in Norway 

and abroad. This is supported by an historical low loss 

ratio on receivables. When the Company enters a new 

market, the credit risk will be assessed for each case and 

hedging measures such as letters of credit or payment 

guarantees will be implemented as required. 

Liquidity risk

The liquidity situation is good, and thus no special 

measures have been implemented to alter the liquidity 

risk. Due dates for payments by customers are tracked, 

and the Company is always up to date with current 

liabilities.

Technology risk

The Company is exposed to quality problems both due 

to the quality of own work and the quality of deliveries 

from subcontractors. Furthermore, continuous technology 

advances can affect the competitive situation of 

Q-Free. Q-Free mitigates this risk by systematic quality 

control of subcontractors, own technology and product 

development, by continuously seeking competence 

needed to integrate various technologies into our 

solutions, and finally by making running provisions for 

possible faulty deliveries.  

 

Project risk

Q-Free’s revenues normally include a substantial element 

of large-scale project deliveries that place significant 

demands on implementation know-how. Q-Free is in 

possession of a unique competence in this field, and the 

development of plans to handle project risks that may 

arise is an important element of the Company’s know-how 

in this respect.

Ethics

To the Board of Directors it is important that everyone 

who works for the Q-Free Group represents the Company 

and the Company’s ideals in a positive way on all arenas 

of our global business. In 2007 the Board of Directors 

therefore adopted a set of guidelines for ethical conduct 

for Q-Free’s personnel, applicable to both internal and 

external business. 

External environment

The use of Q-Free’s products and services contribute to 

reduced traffic congestion and consequently less pollution. 

The Company’s activities have no negative impact on 

the external environment. The Company’s environmental 

programme, which is certified in accordance with 

NS-ENISO 14001:2004, has shown positive results. All 

products introduced after 2005 are produced without 

the use of lead and other hazardous environmental 

substances, as defined in the EU’s RoHS og WEEE 

directives. Q-Free has formulated an environmental 

policy that is published on the Company’s web site. 

Furthermore, the Company is working actively to influence 

subcontractors to choose the most environmentally friendly 

alternatives whenever possible. The Company thus 

fulfils all the environmental requirements imposed by the 

Norwegian authorities and the EU.

RISK SITUATION

An international technology company such as Q-Free is 

destined to be exposed to a number of different risks. 

Political risk related to the time of contract signing and 

implementation of projects is particularly significant 

to Q-Free’s operations, as RUC projects are usually 

always directly or indirectly subject to a governmental 

concession. The processes leading up to project awards 

are often long and unpredictable. The fact that road 

concessions are being privatised in the most developed 

RUC market may reduce the political risk in the long term.

Other risks:

Exchange rate/interest risks

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in exchange 

rates, particularly with the euro and US dollars, as a 

considerable portion of the Company’s revenues is in 
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Shareholder situation

At year-end 2007, Q-Free ASA had 1,450 shareholders, 

compared to 1,202 in 2006. The ownership structure 

consists of investment companies and institutional 

shareholders in Norway and abroad. 

The Company has one share class and the nominal value 

per share is NOK 0.38.

On May 10 2007, the General Meeting authorised the 

Board to increase the share capital by NOK 1,986,421.88 

by issuing a maximum of 5,227,426 new shares, 

corresponding to approximately 10 percent of the share 

capital. This authorization is valid until the next General 

Meeting, though not beyond 30 June 2008, and may be 

employed through acquisitions or mergers. At present, 

the authorization has not been utilised.

The same General Meeting also granted the Board of 

Directors the authority to issue a maximum of 2,700,000 

(5.17 %) new shares to key personnel in the Company. 

This authorization shall be valid until 10 May 2009. As at 

31 December 2007, a total of 2,415,000 share options 

have been issued under this authorization. At present, 

the authorization has not been utilised. Further details 

regarding the share option programme are provided in 

note 9 of the financial statement in the Annual Report.

The General Meeting of 10 May granted the Board of 

Directors the authority to purchase up to 5,227,426 own 

shares and where the total share holdings of own shares 

may not exceed 10 percent of outstanding shares at any 

time. This authorization is valid until the next ordinary 

General Meeting, though not beyond 30 June 2008. At 

present, the authorization has not been percent.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Stock exchange regulations require that companies

listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange must publish a report 

on their principles for Corporate Governance once a year, 

in accordance with the Norwegian Code of Practice for 

Corporate Governance. 

The Board of Q-Free adopted the Group’s principles 

for Corporate Governance in 2007. Further details are 

provided under the section ”Corporate Governance” in 

the printed version of the Company’s Annual Report. 

SHAREHOLDER SITUATION

Share development

The price for Q-Free shares in 2007 varied from NOK 

19.00 (January) to NOK 8.80 (December). At year-

end, the price was NOK 9.42. With a total number 

of 52,274,268 shares, this yielded a market value of 

approximately NOK 492 million. 

The 20 largest shareholders in Q-Free ASA as at March 

27 2008 are: 

Share% Name

8.79 VERDIPAPIRFOND ODIN  

6.49 VERDIPAPIRFONDET NOR  V/NORDEA FONDENE AS

6.39 SKAGEN VEKST  

5.48 MONS HOLDING AS  C/O FORMUESFORVALTNING

4.03 RAMS AS  

3.27 KIKUT AS  ARNE NILSEN

3.21 JPMBLSA  NORDEA LUx LENDING ACCOUNT

3.13 ANDRESEN LARS ODDGEIR 

2.73 REDBACK AS  

2.49 HANDELSBANKEN MARKET MARKET-MAKING DERI-
VATER 

2.49 STOREBRAND LIVSFORSI  P980, AKSJEFONDET

2.37 SILVERCOIN INDUSTRIES AS  

2.05 SAGA EQUITY FUND  C/O SAGA ASSET MANAGEMENT

1.89 VERDIPAPIRFONDET NOR  V/NORDEA FONDENE AS

1.61 MATHIAS HOLDING AS  PER MATHIAS AARSKOG

1.20 NHO ARBEIDSMILJØFIND  V/ BJØRN LUNDAAS

1.19 DANSKE BANK A/S  3887 SETTLEMENTS NOR

1.18 VERDIPAPIRFONDET DAN  DANSKE FUND NORGE

1.15 RBC TRUST COMPANY (J  

1.03 VERDIPAPIRFONDET NOR  V/NORDEA FONDENE AS

62.17
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OUTLOOK

The Board of Directors would like to point out that there will always be considerable uncertainty related to forward-

looking statements. 

Q-Free expects a market growth of approximately 20 percent also in 2008, cf account of market developments 

above. The Company will position itself aggressively to win new markets is expected throughout 2008 compared 

with 2007. 

During 2008, the Company will take actions to improve its competitive position: 

Strenghten the competitive situation of existing product portfolio through a new sourcing-and purchasing  •	

 strategy to meet the anticipated increase in sales volumes of standard products ahead.

Expand and enhance Q-Free’s technological and product portfolio by  increased internal R&D in combination  •	

 with strategic partnership with other parties. This to meet today’s and tomorrow’s market demands regarding  

 price, functions and performance.

Continue to focus on enhancing qualifications of the Company’s personnel.•	

Secure a leading role in the work to develop an international standard of future RUC systems.•	

Strengthen the Company’s presence in new and existing key markets by entering into strategic partnerships  •	

 with other market players.

With the joint effects of thee above-mentioned actions together with the current leading position in selected RUC 

markets, Q-Free believes that it is capable to assume a leading position in the future in both new and existing RUC 

markets, with a dedication to a strong and productive growth. 

ALLOCATION OF PROFIT

The Board of Directors proposes that the profit for the year in the parent company of NOK 6.574.000,- is allocated 

as follows: 

Distributed to other equity.

Trondheim 31 December 2007/ 27 March 2008

     

 

Mimi Kristine Berdal

sign.

   

Christian Albech

sign.

Torild Skogsholm

sign.

Anders Hagen

sign.

Pål Rune Johansen

sign.

Øyvind Isaksen

(CEO)

sign

 Ole Jørgen Fredriksen 

(Chairman of the Board)

sign
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ANDERS HAGEN
Employee elected member of the Board

Mr Hagen holds an MSc in electrical engineering and 
is heading the Innovation Team at the R&D department. 
Mr Hagen has been working in the Q-Free Group 
since 1992.

OLE JØRGEN FREDRIKSEN
Chairman of the Board

Ole Jørgen Fredriksen has over 25 years experience in 
the computer hardware and software industry. He was 
one of the co-founders and the President and CEO of 
ASK, subsequently Proxima and InFocus, the leading 
global projector company.

CHRISTIAN ALBECH
Board member

Christian Albech has substantial experience in the 
information and media industries. He heads Telenor 
Broadcast’s operational activities, which consist of 
Canal Digital, Norkring, Conax and Telenor Satellite 
Broadcasting. Christian Albech comes from the position 
as Senior Vice President of Telenor Broadcast and 
has extensive experience from Telenor’s TV activities. 
Albech has previously headed Telenor’s cable TV 
activities, and was hired as Head of Canal Digital’s 
forerunner CTV. Mr Albech has widespread experience 
of board management. 

MIMI KRISTINE BERDAL
Board member

Mimi K. Berdal has a law degree from the University of
Oslo, and runs her own law and consultancy firm, 
focusing on the areas of contract law, company/com-
mercial law, transactions and securities trading. From 
1991-2005, Berdal was a partner at the law firm Arntzen 
de Besche. Berdal has extensive experience from work 
as a Board Member.

PÅL RUNE JOHANSEN
Employee elected member of the Board

Mr Johansen has been with Q-Free ASA since 2000 and 
holds the position as Global Account Manager. 
Johansen has extensive experience from project 
management. He holds an MSc.

THE BOARD OF THE DIRECTORS

TORILD SKOGSHOLM
Board member

Torild Skogsholm is the Managing Director of Oslo
Sporvognsdrift AS. From 2001-2005, Mrs Skogsholm 
was the Minister for Transport and Communications. 
She has also held positions as political advisor to the 
Ministry of the Environment and Parliamentary Secretary 
at the Ministry of Transport and Communications.
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RUC SOLUTIONS ARE CURRENTLY BEING 

CONSIDERED IN A NUMBER OF LARGE 

CITIES THROUGHOUT THE WORLD 
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PARENT COMPANY GROUP

Figures in 1.000 NOK

2005 2006 2007 Note 2007 2006 2005

Operating revenue

416,697 283,135 291,927 Revenue 3 , 4 407,025 381,260 508,854

306 5,682 3,829 Other operating income 6 3,829 5,682 306

417,003 288,817 295,756 Total operating revenue 410,854 386,942 509,160

Operating expenses

212,326 125,760 122,038 Cost of goods sold 11 160,981 154,104 233,300

45,140 41,486 54,838 Payroll expenses 8, 9, 10 93,617 78,724 74,859

13,161 13,389 13,522 Depreciation 12 16,977 17,015 16,314

0 0 6,421 Write-down of fixed assets 12 6,421 0 0

66,691 92,892 96,169 Other operating expenses 12, 14 111,983 107,726 79,317

337,317 273,527 292,987 Total operating expenses 389,980 357,569 403,789

79,687 15,290 2,769 Operating profit 20,875 29,373 105,371

Financial items 16

1,746 0 15,031 Financial income from group companies 0 0 0

2,258 4,273 2,604 Other interest received 3,616 7,514 4,896

16,876 13,970 14,922 Other financial income 16,116 17,356 18,900

0 6,949 177 Changes in market value of financial current assets 23 177 6,949 0

-1,155 0 0 Write-down on financial current assets 0 0 0

-439 -166 0 Write-down on financial fixed assets 0 -166 -439

-172 -9,952 -1,423 Other interest expenses -2,407 -11,506 -1,363

-7,699 -2,995 -24,026 Other financial expenses -23,822 -4,495 -8,692

11,416 12,079 7,284 Total financial items -6,320 15,652 13,303

91,103 27,369 10,053 Profit before tax 14,555 45,024 118,674

-539 -5,336 -3,480 Tax on ordinary result 20 -9,540 -11,157 -6,358

90,564 22,033 6,574 Result after tax, but before loss in 5,015 33,868 112,316

discontinued operations

-17,802 0 0 Loss in discontinued operations 0 0 -17,802

72,763 22,033 6,574 Profit / (-) loss for the year 5,015 33,868 94,514

Minority share 3,678 1,687 574

Equity holders of parent 1,337 32,181 93,940

Distribution of profit / (-) loss for the year :

0 0 0 Share premium reserve

72,763 22,033 6,574 Other equity

72,763 22,033 6,574 Total distributed

Earnings per share 21 0.03 0.62 1.84

Diluted earnings per share 21 0.03 0.62 1.83

PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT



42 FINANCIAL
STATEMENT

PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000 GROUP

2006 2007 ASSETS Note  2007 2006

Fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets

9,529 6,128 Deferred tax assets 20 10,654 11,832

22,720 40,011 Development 12 40,320 23,288

32,249 46,139 Total intangible fixed assets 50,973 35,121

Tangible fixed assets

30,248 41,192 Machinery, fixtures and fittings, etc. 12 53,406 45,274

30,248 41,192 Total tangible fixed assets 53,406 45,274

Financial fixed assets

7,639 9,410 Investments in subsidiaries 22 0 0

9,465 6,865 Loan to group companies 0 0

36,845 1,743 Investments in other companies 23 1,834 36,936

37 697 Pension funds 10 819 414

0 24 Other receivables 2,099 1,674

53,986 18,740 Total financial fixed assets 4,752 39,023

116,483 106,071 TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 109,132 119,418

Current assets

31,496 26,103 Inventories 11 42,291 52,047

Debtors

61,726 67,850 Account receivables 18 94,564 88,687

617 8,028 Recognised, not invoiced revenue 8,028 617

11,130 11,163 Account receivables on group companies 18 0 0

1,403 9,509 Other debtors 14,758 3,192

74,876 96,550 Total debtors 117,350 92,496

260 0 Financial derivates 16 0 260

127,537 101,206 Cash and cash equivalents 24 124,283 162,174

234,169 223,859 TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 283,923 306,978

350,653 329,930 TOTAL ASSETS 393,055 426,395

BALANCE SHEET OF 31.12



43 FINANCIAL
STATEMENT

PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000 GROUP

2006 2007 EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note 2007 2006

Equity

Paid-in capital

19,864 19,864 Subscribed share capital 25 19,864 19,864

155,231 155,231 Share premium reserve 155,231 155,231

3,849 5,116 Other paid-in capital 5,244 3,849

178,945 180,211 Total paid-in capital 180,340 178,945

74,040 80,614 Other equity 103,904 103,886

74,040 80,614 Total retained earnings 103,904 103,886

0 0 Minority interests 16,352 12,674

252,985 260,825 TOTAL EQUITY 300,596 295,505

Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

0 0 Liabilities to financial institutions 26 2,992 2,350

0 0 Other long-term liabilities 13 0 1,042

0 0 Total long-term liabilities 2,992 3,392

Current liabilities

41,418 31,253 Accounts payable 41,147 57,146

0 750 Advance payments from customers 1,578 1,854

3,594 7,922 Debt to group companies 0 0

13,622 0 Tax payable 20 4,158 17,103

0 5,238 Public duties payable 8,721 1,846

39,034 23,942 Other short-term liabilities 15 33,863 49,549

97,668 69,105 Total current liabilities 89,468 127,498

97,668 69,105 TOTAL LIABILITIES 92,459 130,890

350,653 329,930 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 393,055 426,395

BALANCE SHEET OF 31.12

Trondheim, 31 December 2007
27 March 2008

Ole Jørgen Fredriksen
Chairman of the Board

Torild Skogsholm

Christian Albech

Pål Rune Johansen
Employee representative

Øyvind Isaksen
CEO

Mimi Kristine Berdal

Anders Hagen
Employee representative
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000

Changes in equity

Note Share capital
Share 
Premium 
reserve

Other paid-
in capital

Other 
equity

Total equity

Equity per 01.01.2007 19,864 155,231 3,849 74,040 252,985

Net gains and losses not recognised in 
the profit and Loss Statement

0 0 0 0 0

Profit (loss) for the period 0 0 0 6,574 6,574

Total 0 0 0 6,574 6,574

Excercise of share options 0 0 0 0 0

Cost of share-based payment 0 0 1,266 0 1,266

Equity per 31.12.2007 19,864 155,231 5,116 80,614 260,825

GROUP NOK 1,000

Changes in equity Majority interests Minority 
interests

Total 
equity

Note
Share 
capital

Share Premium 
reserve

Other 
paid-in 
capital

Other 
equity

Total

Equity  per. 01.01.2006: 19,346 135,920 2,370 72,377 230,012 10,987 241,000

Currency translation differences 0 0 0 -672 -672 0 -672

Net gains and losses not recognised in 
the profit and Loss Statement

0 0 0 -672 -672 0 -672

Profit (loss) for the period 0 0 0 32,181 32,181 1,687 33,868

Total 0 0 0 31,509 31,509 1,687 33,196

Excercise of share options 519 19,312 0 0 19,830 0 19,830

Cost of share-based payment 0 0 1,479 0 1,479 0 1,479

Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Equity per 31.12.2006 19,864 155,231 3,849 103,886 282,831 12,674 295,505

Currency translation differences 0 0 0 -1,319 -1,319 0 -1,319

Net gains and losses not recognised in 
the profit and Loss Statement

0 0 0 -1,319 -1,319 0 -1,319

Profit (loss) for the period 0 0 0 1,337 1,337 3,678 5,015

Total 0 0 0 18 18 3,678 3,696

Excercise of share options 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reclassification 0 0 129 0 129 0 129

Cost of share-based payment 0 0 1,266 0 1,266 0 1,266

Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Equity 31.12.2007 19,864 155,231 5,244 103,904 284,244 16,352 300,596
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PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000 GROUP

2006 2007 2007 2006

Cash flows from operations

27,369 10,053 Total result before tax 14,555 45,024

0 -13,523 Taxes paid -15,013 -3,482

13,389 13,522 Depreciation 16,977 17,015

166 6,421 Write-down on fixed assets 6,421 166

1,200 291 Income from subsidiaries 0 0

0 -684 Pension cost without cash flow effect -429 0

-6,949 -177 Shares valued at fair value -177 -6,949

1,479 1,266 Cost of share-based payment 1,266 1,479

36,654 17,169 Cash flow from operations 23,600 53,253

-35,563 -1,822 Changes in inventory, customers, suppliers -12,120 -43,669

12,016 -22,219 Changes in other balance sheet items -24,198 8,770

13,107 -6,872 Net cash flow from operations -12,718 18,354

Cash flow from investments

-30,289 -48,177 Investments in tangible fixed assets -48,584 -31,714

-1,343 28,717 Other investments 27,489 -10,185

-31,631 -19,460 Net cash flow from investments -21,095 -41,898

Cash flow from financing

-752 0 Repayment of loans -400 -630

19,830 0 Payment of share capital 0 19,830

0 0 Other financial items -3,678 0

19,078 0 Net cash flow from financing -4,078 19,201

554 -26,332 Net change in cash and cash equivalents for the year -37,891 -4,344

126,984 127,537 Cash and cash equivalents per 01.01. 162,174 166,518

127,537 101,206 Cash and cash equivalents per 31.12. 124,283 162,174

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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NOTE 1 CORPORATE INFORMATION       

Q-Free’s consolidated accounts for the year ended at 31 December 2007 were approved by the board at its meeting on 

27 March 2008 . Q-Free ASA is a limited liability company headquartered in Thonning Owesens gate 35c, Trondheim, 

Norway.  The company’s shares are traded on the Oslo Stock Exchange.

The business activity is described in Note 3.       

         

NOTE 2 BASIS FOR PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS     

2.1 : GENERAL PRINCIPLES        

The consolidated financial statements are presented using the historical cost principle, with the exception of derivative 

financial instruments and investments available for sale, which are measured at fair value. The carrying values of 

recognised assets and liabilities that are hedged items in fair value hedges, and are otherwise carried at cost, are 

adjusted to record changes in the fair values attributable to the risks that are being hedged. The consolidated financial 

statements are presented in NOK.

STATEMENTS OF COMPLIANCE        

The consolidated financial statements of Q-Free ASA (the “Parent Company”) and all its subsidiaries (The “Group”), have 

been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by EU. 

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURE             

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:   

               

The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations during the year. Adoption of 

these revised standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of the Group. 

They did however give rise to additional disclosures.

* IFRS 7  Financial Instruments : Disclosures:      

* IAS 1  Amendment  - Presentation of financial statements     

* IFRIC 8  Scope of IFRS 2        

* IFRIC 9  Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives      

* IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment     

         

The Group has also early adopted the following IFRS and IFRIC interpretations. Adoption of these standards and 

interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of the Group. They did however give rise 

to additional disclosures, including revisions to accounting policies.

         

* IFRS 8  Operating Segments       

* IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions     

         

The principal effects of these changes are as follows:      

         

IAS 7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS : DISCLOSURES       

This standard requires disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the significance of the Group’s 

financial instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising from those financial instruments. The new disclosures 

are included throughout the financial statements. While there has been no effect on the financial position or results, 

comparative information has been revised where needed.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2007
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IAS 1 PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS       

This amendment requires the Group to make new disclosures to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the 

Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. These new disclosures are shown in Note 31.

         

IFRIC 8 SCOPE OF IFRS 2        

This interpretation requires IFRS 2 to be applied to any arrangements in which the entity cannot identify specifically some 

or all of the goods received, in particular where equity instruments are issued for consideration which appears to be less 

than fair value. As equity instruments are only issued to employees in accordance with the employee share scheme, the 

interpretation had no impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

         

IFRIC 9 REASSESSMENT OF EMBEDDED DERIVATIVES       

IFRIC 9 states that the date to assess the existence of an embedded derivative is the date that an entity first becomes a 

party to the contract, with reassessment only if there is a change to the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows. 

As the Group has no embedded derivative requiring separation from the host contract, the interpretation had no impact 

on the financial position or performance of the Group.

         

IFRIC 10 INTERIM FINANCIAL REPORTING AND IMPAIRMENT      

The Group adopted IFRIC Interpretation 10 as of 1 January 2007, which requires that an entity must not reverse an 

impairment loss recognised in a previous interim period in respect of goodwill or an investment in either an equity 

instrument or a financial asset carried at cost. As the Group had no impairment losses previously reversed, the 

interpretation had no impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

         

IFRS 8 OPERATING SEGMENTS        

This standard requires disclosure of information about the Group’s operating segments and replaced the requirement to 

determine primary business and secondary (geographical) reporting segments of the Group. The Group determined that 

the operating segments were the same as the business segments previously identified under IAS 14 Segment Reporting. 

Additional disclosures about each of these segments are shown in Note 3, including revised comparative information.

         

IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 - GROUP AND TREASURY SHARE TRANSACTIONS      

The Group has elected to adopt IFRIC Interpretation 11 as of 1 January 2007, insofar as it applies to consolidated 

financial statements. This interpretation requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted rights to an entity’s equity 

instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme, even if the entity buys the instruments from another party, or 

the shareholders provide the equity instruments needed.

         

2.2 : CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES        

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Q-Free ASA and entities controlled by 

Q-Free ASA (subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating 

policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Control normally exists when Q-Free ASA has more than 

50% voting power through ownership or agreements. Reference is made to Note 22 for a list of subsidiaries consolidated 

into the group. All intercompany transactions and intercompany accounts that are included in the consolidated accounts 

have been eliminated. 

Q-Free ASA Group has a controlling interest in all subsidiaries in the group. The shares in the subsidiaries are eliminated 

according to the purchase method of accounting. This means that the original cost of the shares is attributed to the 

subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities that are included in the consolidated accounts at the actual value at the time of
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purchase. Original costs exceeding what can be attributed to identifiable assets and liabilities is presented as goodwill. 

All subsidiaries are independent companies. The balance sheet of the foreign subsidiaries are converted to the exchange 

rate as of the balance sheet date. Profit and loss items are converted to the average exchange rate for the year. The 

conversion difference is posted directly against the group’s equity.

In the consolidated accounts, the company accounts are settled according to consistent accounting and valuation 

principles, and presentation of items in the profit and loss account and on the balance sheet are carried out according to 

uniform definitions.

         

Minority interests are included in the Group’s total equity.      

         

2.3 : USE OF ESTIMATES WHEN PREPARING THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS (International Reporting Financial 

Standards). This means that the management has used estimates and assumptions that have affected assets, liabilities, 

revenues, expenses and information on potential liabilities. This particularly applies to the recognition of revenue of long-

term delivery contracts, pension liabilities (funds) and share option program for employees.  Future events may lead to 

these estimates being changed. Such changes will be recognised when new estimates can be determined with certainty. 

Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for in the period in which the changes occur. If the changes also apply 

to future periods, the effect is distributed between the current and future periods.The key assumptions concerning the 

future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a 

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

PENSION FUNDS / LIABILITIES : 

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post employment medical benefits is determined using actuarial 

valuations. The actuarial valuation involves a number of assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on 

assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the long term nature of these plans, 

such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. The net employee funds at 31 December 2007 is NOK 819,000 

Corresponding figures for 2006 was net funds NOK 413,679. Further details are given in Note 10.

WARRANTY ACCRUALS :        

The Group is estimating the probable warranty costs in relation to tags delivered with faults based on similar cost for 

previous years and an evaluation of the portfolio of delivered tags still under warranty. Total accruals per 31 December 

2007 is NOK 13,800,000. Corresponding figures for 2006 was NOK 27,500,000. Further details are given in Note 15.

ON-GOING PROJECTS : 

Revenue recognition in on-going projects is measured as a percentage calculated as accrued production costs as 

a percentage of total anticipated production costs. Total anticipated production costs are estimated on the basis of 

a combination of historical figures, the follow up of efficiency targets and best estimates. Accrued revenue per 31 

December 2007 is NOK 239,934,000. Corresponding figures for 2006 was NOK 106,125,000. Further details are given in 

Note 19.

DEFERRED TAx ASSETS :        

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 

available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount 

of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together

with future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of recognised deferred tax assets at 31 December 2007 was NOK
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10,653,588 for Group and NOK 6,128,463 for Parent  (2006: NOK 11,832,151 for Group and NOK 9,529,057 for Parent) 

and the unrecognised deferred tax assets at 31 December 2007 was NOK 0 (2006: NOK 0 for both Group and Parent). 

Further details regarding deferred taxes are given in Note 20.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS :        

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting date. 

Capitalised product development cost as intangible fixed assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times 

when such indicators exist. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying 

amounts may not be recoverable. Management estimates the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash 

generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. At 31 

December 2007, the best estimate of the carrying amount of capitalised product development costs was NOK 40,320,000 

(2006 : NOK 23,288,432). Further details are given in Note 12.

         

2.4 : RECOGNITION OF REVENUE        

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that transactions will generate future economic benefits that will accrue to the 

company and the size of the amount can be reliably estimated. Sales revenue are presented net of value added tax and 

discounts.

Revenue from the sale of goods are recognised in the income statement once delivery has taken place, the risk has 

been transferred and the company has established a receivable due by customer. Q-Free’s business acitivites are 

product and system deliveries as well as provision of service and maintanance within the tolling business with a length 

in time from a couple of months up till two to three years. Revenue relating to projects are recognised in the income 

statement according to the stage of completion. Stage of project completion is calculated as accrued production costs 

as a percentage of total anticipated production costs. Total anticipated production costs are estimated on the basis of a 

combination of historical figures, the follow up of efficiency targets and best estimates. If the project’s results cannot be 

reliably estimated, only revenue equal to the accrued project costs will be recognized as revenue. Any estimated loss on 

a contract will be recognised in the income statement for the period when it is identified that the project will lead to a loss.

Change orders are defined as additions to existing contracts. Change orders are recognised when the probability of 

customer acceptance of the change order can be ascertained with a high degree of probability. Additional contractual 

services and estimated additional costs are included in the original project costings and recognised as income with a 

shared profit on the contract and the same degree of completion.

Invoicing normally takes place when contractually agreed milestones are reached. Differences between invoicing dates 

and revenue recognition are shown as “Recognized, not invoiced revenue” in the balance sheet. Advance payments from 

the customers are presented under current liabilities.

         

2.5 : GOVERNMENTAL GRANTS        

Subsidies from the authorities are not recognised until it is reasonably certain that the company will meet the conditions 

stipulated in connection with the receipt of the subsidies and that the subsidies actual will be granted. The recognition of 

subsidies is postponed and amortised over the period that the costs relating to that which the subsidies are intended for 

are incurred. Subsidies are recognised as deductions from the cost that the subsidy is meant to cover. Subsidies received 

to buy non-current assets are capitalised. Government grants are accounted as other operating income when the cost are 

incurred or as reduction of personell expenses if the Group has approved projects in the govermental tax relief program 

“Skattefunn”. See Note 6.
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2.6 : ACCRUALS         

Accruals are recognised when the company has a valid liability (legal or constructed) as a result of events that have taken 

place and it can be proven probable (more probable than not) that a financial settlement will take place as a result of this 

liability, and that the size of the amount can be measured reliably. Accruals are reviewed on each balance sheet date and 

reflects the best estimate of the liability.  When the effect of time is insignificant, the accruals will be equal to the size of 

the expense required to be released of the liability. When the effect of time is significant, the accruals will be the present 

value of future payments to cover the liability. Further details are given in Note 15.

         

2.7 : TRANSLATION – FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES       

The accounts of the foreign subsidiaries are included in the income statement at average exchange rates for the year. 

Balance sheet items, including goodwill related to foreign subsidiaries, are translated at the rates that applied on 31 Dec. 

Translation differences are recognised against the Group’s equity under ‘Currency calculation differences’.

         

2.8 : MINORITY INTERESTS        

The minority interests include the minority’s share of the carrying amount of subsidiaries, including the share of identified 

excess value on the date when a subsidiary is acquired.

Losses in a consolidated subsidiary that can be attributed to the minority interests cannot exceed the minority’s share 

of equity in the consolidated subsidiary. Excess losses are recognised against the equity holders of the parent in the 

subsidiary to the extent that the minority is not obligated and can incur its share of the loss. If the subsidiary starts making 

a profit, the majority’s share of the subsidiary’s equity shall be adjusted until the minority’s share of past losses is covered.

         

2.9 : VALUATION AND CLASSIFICATION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES      

Assets assigned to permanent ownership or use are classified as fixed assets. Other assets are classified as current 

assets. Receivables that will be repaid within one year are in all cases classified as current assets. Analogue criteria are 

used to classify short-term and long-term debt. 

Fixed assets are valued at original cost, but are written down to actual value when the lower value is expected to be 

permanent. Fixed assets with a limited useful lifetime are systematically depreciated. Long-term debt is not written up to 

actual value as a result of changes in the interest rate. Current assets are valued at original cost or actual value whichever 

is the lower. Short-term debt is recorded on the balance sheet at the nominal received amount at the time the debt was 

established. Short-term debt is not written up to actual value as a result of changes in the interest rate. 

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets are impaired.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 

individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If it is 

determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether 

significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group 

of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for 

which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 

to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed, to 

the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. Any subsequent 

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such as the
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probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the Group will not be able to collect all of the 

amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through use of an 

allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.    

     

2.10 : FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY      

The consolidated financial statements are presented in NOK, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 

currency. Each entity in the group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements 

of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at 

the functional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences 

regarding retranslation are taken over the profit and loss account. If a subsidiaries has a different functional currency than 

the Group’s presentation currency, the currency difference when denominating the Profit/Loss Account and Balance Sheet 

at 31.12 will be shown as “Currency and calculation difference “ in the Statement of changes in Equity. See Note 22 for a 

specification of the subsidiaries functional currencies.

         

2.11 : TRANSACTIONS IN FOREIGN CURRENCY       

Monetary items in foreign currency are converted at the exchange rate on the date of the balance sheet. Receivables and 

debt in currencies with material impact are secured with currency futures contracts. See Note 16 for further information.

         

2.12 : FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS        

Q-Free classifies financial assets and liabilities according to IAS 39 in the following categories: fair value with changes in 

the value of the asset (held for trading), financial assets and liabilities held to maturity, financial assets available for sale, 

and other financial liabilities. 

Financial assets and liabilities related to continuing operations are valued at their amortised cost which in practice implies 

their nominal value with any write downs for anticipated losses. The Group’s borrowings are considered financial liabilities 

held to maturity. These are recognised at their amortised cost.

All shares that are not in subsidiaries or associates on the balance sheet at 31 Dec 2007 are defined as financial 

instruments at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets at fair value are capitalised at their fair value based on 

market price on the stock exchange on the date of balance sheet recognition. Certain equity instruments are not traded in 

an active market and their value is based on other relevant valuation models. Changes in the value of financial assets at 

fair value are recognised through profit or loss.

         

2.13 : RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT        

Expenses for research activities are recognised as they accrue.

Expenses related to product development activities are capitalised if the product development activities comply with 

defined criteria for balance sheet recognition. Capitalisation assumes it is possible to identify the intangible asset to be 

developed and to demonstrate that it is likely that the development work will be successful, and that the future financial 

benefits attached to the intangible asset will accrue to the enterprise. Depreciation is carried out using the straight-line 

method over the estimated useful lifetime. The estimated useful lifetime is continuously evaluated.

If the criteria are satisfied, expenses recognised on the balance sheet will include the cost of materials, direct payroll 

expenses and a percentage of the directly attributable administration expenses. Capitalised development costs are 

recognised on the balance sheet at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and write-downs.

Expenses related to ongoing efforts to improve a product or enhance a product’s quality are defined as product 

maintenance and expensed as they are incurred.
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2.14 : TANGIBLE FIxED ASSETS/DEPRECIATION       

Tangible fixed assets are valued at original cost and depreciated. New acquisitions are capitalised and depreciated if 

considered to have a useful lifetime of more than three years. Improvements to existing business assets are capitalised 

and depreciated using the straight-line method over the remaining economic life. Projected residual value is taken 

into account when stipulating the depreciation plan. Remaining estimated useful life and estimated residual value are 

assessed every year. Direct maintenance of business assets are expensed continuously under operating costs. If the 

tangible fixed asset’s value is lower than the original cost and decline in value is not assumed to be temporary, an 

impairment will be recorded.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the following periods of time :

- Machinery and lab equipment : 4 - 6 years       

- Office and computer equipment : 3 - 5 years       

- Building installations :  5 - 7 years, distributed over the remaining rental periods.    

         

2.15 : SHARE BASED PAYMENT        

The group has a share option program for key employees. To the extent share options or shares are issued to lower than 

market price, the difference between market price and issue price is reported as payroll expense.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured to fair value at grant date. The cost of equity-settled 

transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the year in which the performance 

conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (vesting 

date). The market value of granted share options are measured by using Black & Scholes model which take into 

consideration time and conditions of the share options.

Social security tax is accrued each quarter for the difference between the market value and the excercise value of the 

granted but not exercised share options.  

         

2.16 : BORROWING COSTS        

Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred. Interest expenses on loans are recognised using the effective interest 

method of accounting.

         

2.17 : INVENTORIES        

Inventories under manufacturing are estimated to lowest of manufacturing cost and net realisable value. For finished 

goods, the net realisable value is calculated as the sales value less selling costs. For work in progress and finished 

products, the acquisition cost is calculated as direct and indirect costs. Inventories are assessed using the FIFO method.

         

2.18 LEASES         

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. The evaluation is based on the substance of 

the transaction. However, situations that individually would normally lead the Group to classify a lease as a financial lease 

is if the lease term is more than 75% of the estimated economic life or the present value of the minimum lease payments 

exceeds 90% of the fair value of the leased asset. Capitalized lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the 

estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership 

by the end of the lease term.

FINANCIAL LEASES :         

The Group presents financial leases in the financial statements as assets and liabilities, equal to the cost price of the 

asset or, if lower, the present value of the cash flow to the lease.  When calculating the present value of the lease the
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implicit interest cost in the lease is used when it can be determined. If it cannot be determined, the company’s marginal 

borrowing rate in the market is used. Direct costs relating to the lease are included in the asset’s cost price. Monthly rent 

is separated into an interest element and a repayment element. Interest costs are allocated to different periods, so that 

the interest cost for the remaining debt is the same in different periods.

OPERATIONAL LEASES         

 Leases for which most of the risk rests with the lessor are classified as operational leases. Lease payments are in such 

cases classified as operating costs.

         

2.19 : SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES        

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for according to the cost method in the parent company’s accounts. The 

investments are recognised at their fair value on the date of acquisition. Fair value is attributed to identifiable assets and 

liabilities. Excess value that cannot be assigned to identifiable assets is classified as goodwill.

         

2.20 : INVESTMENT IN SHARES        

Investments in shares is classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The fair value of investments is 

determined by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date.  For investments 

where there is no active market, fair value is determined applying commonly used valuation techniques.

         

2.21 : INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES        

Associates are companies in which the group exercises significant influence (normally between 20 and 50% share 

holding). These investments are recognised by reporting the Group’s share of the companies’ profit/loss after tax, 

adjusted for the amortisation of excess values, if any. The balance sheet presents stakes at their cost price plus 

accumulated results, adjusted for the amortisation of excess values and dividends received, if any.

         

2.22 : ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES      

Accounts receivable and other receivables are entered at face value after deduction for provision for doubtful debts. 

Provision for doubtful debt is done on the basis of an individual assessment of each receivable and an overall 

assessment of the total portfolio of receivables. 

        

2.23 : PENSION COSTS AND PENSION ASSETS AND LIABILITIES      

Q-Free ASA has a defined benefit- and a defined contribution pension plan for the employees to select from. Pension cost 

are calculated according to IAS 19. Net pension cost for the year includes estimated pension contribution including future 

salary growth, estimated return on pension funds and potential effects of changes in pension plans and estimates. Net 

pension cost is presented as payroll expense in the profit and loss statement. Pension funds and pension liabilities are 

valued based on best estimates adjusted annually based on actuary reports. The accumulated effects from changes in 

actuarial and economical assumptions are distributed over the remaining recognition period for the portion of the change 

exceeding more than 10% of the largest of pension liabilities and pension funds as of 1 January. The pension liabilities is 

secured through an insurance company.

         

2.24: TAxES         

Tax is expensed as it accrues, i.e. the tax is related to the accounting net profit. Tax includes both payable tax (tax on the year’s 

taxable result) and changes in net deferred tax/tax assets. Income from long-term production contracts is not recognised for tax 

purposes until an individual contract has been completed. A change in deferred tax/tax assets reflects future payable tax that 

arises as a result of the year’s activities. Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are presented net in the balance sheet. Capitalisation 
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of the deferred tax asset has been made on the basis of anticipated future earnings where the tax assets will be applicable. Tax 

on group contribution given from the parent company and tax on group contribution that is entered directly against equity, 

is entered directly against payable tax in the balance sheet. Deferred tax asset is calculated at nominal value in both the 

company accounts as well as the consolidated accounts. Deferred taxes are calculated on net tax-increasing differences 

between the balance sheet items used for accounting purposes and those used for taxation purposes, adjusted for 

temporary tax-decreasing differences and tax losses carried forward according to the liability method.

         

2.25 : CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS        

Cash includes cash in hand and at bank. Cash equivalents are short-term liquid investments that can be converted into 

cash within six months and to a known amount, and which contain insignificant risk elements.  

         

2.26 : CASH FLOW STATEMENT        

The cash flow statement is prepared according to the indirect method. Cash is considered as a deposit at call in bank 

or similar financial institutions. Consented, not full-drawn bank overdrafts is not considered liquid capital. All items in the 

cash flow statement is net effects from the continued operation unless stated otherwise.

2.27 : EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE       

New information on the company’s positions at the balance sheet date is taken into account in the annual financial 

statements. Events after the balance sheet date that do not affect the company’s position at the balance sheet date, but 

which will affect the company’s position in the future, are stated if significant. There are no such events in 2008.

2.28 : BUSINESS SEGMENTS

For management purposes, the group is organised into geographical areas based on the location of the customer. 

Note 3 specifies the groups reporting segments.         

2.29 : IFRSS AND IFRIC INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET EFFECTIVE      

IFRS 2 - AMENDMENTS SHARE BASED PAYMENTS - VESTING CONDITIONS AND CANCELLATIONS           

This amendment to IFRS 2 Share-based payments was published in January 2008 and becomes effective for financial 

years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The Standard restricts the definition of “vesting condition” to a condition that 

includes an explicit or implicit requirement to provide services.                      

IFRS 3R BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND IAS 27R CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS           

The revised standards were issued in January 2008 and become effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 

2009. IFRS 3R introduces a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations that will impact the amount 

of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported results. IAS 27R 

requires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary is accounted for as an equity transaction.                      

IAS 1 - AMENDMENT - PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS           

The revised IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements was issued in September 2007 and becomes effective for financial 

years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The Standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity.                      

AMENDMENTS TO IAS 32 AND IAS 1 PUTTABLE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS           

Amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 1 were issued in February 2008 and become effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2009. The amendment to IAS 32 requires certain puttable financial instruments and obligations 

arising on liquidation to be classified as equity if certain criteria are met. The amendment to IAS 1 



55ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
AND NOTES

requires disclosure of certain information relating to puttable instruments classified as equity.         

IAS 23 BORROWING COSTS

A revised IAS 23 Borrowing costs was issued in March 2007, and becomes effective for financial years beginning on or 

after 1 January 2009. The standard has been revised to require capitalisation of borrowing costs when such costs relate 

to a qualifying asset. A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for 

its intended use or sale. In accordance with the transitional requirements in the Standard, the Group will adopt this as a 

prospective change. Accordingly, borrowing costs will be capitalised on qualifying assets with a commencement date 

after 1 January 2009. No changes will be made for borrowing costs incurred to this date that have been expensed.

         

IFRIC 12 SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS

IFRIC Interpretation 12 was issued in November 2006 and becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2008. This Interpretation applies to service concession operators and explains how to account for the obligations 

undertaken and rights received in service concession arrangements. No member of the Group is an operator and hence 

this Interpretation will have no impact on the Group.

         

IFRIC 13 CUSTOMER LOYALTY PROGRAMMES

IFRIC Interpretation 13 was issued in June 2007 and becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 

2008. This Interpretation requires customer loyalty award credits to be accounted for as a separate component of the 

sales transaction in which they are granted and therefore part of the fair value of the consideration received is allocated 

to the award credits and deferred over the period that the award credits are fulfilled. The Group expects that this 

interpretation will have no impact on the Group’s financial statements as no such schemes currently exist.

IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – THE LIMIT ON A DEFINED BENEFIT ASSET, MINIMUM FUNDING REQUIREMENTS AND 

THEIR INTERACTION

IFRIC Interpretation 14 was issued in July 2007 and becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2008. This Interpretation provides guidance on how to assess the limit on the amount of surplus in a defined benefit scheme 

that can be recognised as an asset under IAS 19 Employee Benefits. The Group expects that this Interpretation will have no 

impact on the financial position or performance of the Group as all defined benefit schemes are currently in deficit.

The Group expects that adoption of the pronouncements listed above will not impact on the Group’s financial statements 

in the period of initial application.

NOTE 3 SEGMENT INFORMATION         

For management purposes, the group is organised into geographical areas based on the location of the customer, and 

has three reportable operating segments as follows:         

Europe, Asia Pacific, Latin America         

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.    

Management monitors the operating results of its operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions 

about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or 

loss which in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured differently from operating profit or loss in the 

consolidated financial statements. Group financing (including finance costs and finance revenue) and income taxes are 

managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.      

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties. 

        



56 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
AND NOTES

Operating segments                     31 Dec 2007 31 Dec 2006

NOK 1,000 Europe Asia Pacific Latin America TOTAL Europe Asia Pacific Latin America TOTAL

Profit & Loss Account :

Revenue 342,380 45,058 23,416 410,854 303,132 63,937 19,873 386,942

Cost of goods sold 138,255 14,180 8,546 160,981 124,295 21,497 8,313 154,104

Payroll expenses 78,071 11,526 4,019 93,617 62,465 12,193 4,066 78,724

Operating expenses 118,594 7,753 9,034 135,381 109,134 12,004 3,602 124,740

Total operating expenses 334,919 33,460 21,600 389,980 295,894 45,694 15,981 357,569

Operating profit  /  (loss) 7,461 11,598 1,816 20,875 7,238 18,243 3,892 29,373

Balance sheet : 0

Fixed Assets 97,939 7,191 4,002 109,132 110,235 3,606 4,077 117,918

Current assets 254,270 22,048 7,605 283,923 261,805 40,901 5,771 308,477

TOTAL ASSETS 352,209 29,239 11,607 393,055 372,040 44,507 9,848 426,395

Balance sheet : 0

Long term liabilities 2,992 0 0 2,992 3,392 0 0 3,392

Short term liabilities 65,974 16,389 7,104 89,468 86,425 34,766 6,307 127,498

TOTAL LIABILITIES 68,966 16,389 7,104 92,459 89,817 34,766 6,307 130,890

Key figures :

Operatin profit margin 2.2 % 25.7% 7.8% 5.1% 2.4% 28.5% 19.6% 7.6%

Average annual man years 158 27 7 192 141 38 7 186

Average number of employees 163 28 7 198 141 40 7 188

NOK 1,000 2007 2006 2005

Products 291,302 71% 217,118 56% 251,344 49%

Service and maintenance 73,672 18% 68,657 18% 60,513 12%

Project completion 45,880 11% 101,167 26% 197,303 39%

TOTAL REVENUE 410,854 100% 386,942 100% 509,160 100%

NOK 1,000 2007 2006 2005

Europe 249,258 67% 241,836 82% 185,608 83%

Asia Pacific 108,632 29% 29,799 10% 22,625 10%

Latin America 13,466 4% 21,938 8% 15,767 7%

TOTAL ORDER BACKLOG 371,356 100% 293,573 100% 224,000 100%

See Note 4 for types of revenues. The above segment information is not avaliable for 2005.  

NOTE 4 SALES REVENUE BROKEN DOWN BY TYPE OF REVENUE  

NOTE 5 ORDER BACKLOG BY REPORTING SEGMENTS    

The order backlog for external customers are based on the geographical  location of the customers.
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Projects Description Contribution Partner Contribution 2007

NOK 1,000

  SUAVE

The project shall generate definite building blocks, that can be implemented for 

adaptive antennas suitable for use in vehicles. It is a goal to deliver Norwegian 

developed technology for wireless broadband in vehicles for use in next genera-

tion ITS systems.

The Research Council 
of Norway 2,393

  Wisecar

Intelligent driver-support for safer and more efficient traffic. Supported by NFR/

VERDIKT programme (5 years). Sintef is R&D-partner and does the project 

management. The goals are to develop mobile ICT-solutions for all traficants using 

the road. The project has focus on sevices and applications and Q-Free’s main 

role is to deliver CALM equipment based on the CVIS platform and to develop a 

knowledge database.

The Research Council 
of Norway 1,350

  Safespot

SAFESPOT is an integrated research project co-funded by the European Commis-

sion Information Society Technologies among the initiatives of the 6th Framework 

Program. The objective is to understand how intelligent vehicles and intelligent 

roads can cooperate to produce a breakthrough for road safety.

EU 28

  RCI

RCI (Road Charging Interoperability) is a project for Demonstration and validation 

of a basic concept for European interoperable road charging. Builds upon exist-

ing specifications and existing toll systems. Defines a concept that allows different 

interoperable local flavours now and in the future. Demonstrates and validates a 

concept for interoperable solutions through functional prototypes with stakehold-

ers that work under real market conditions.

EU 57

  SmartFreight EPSS

SMARTFREIGHT is a 30-month EU project which aims to use information and 

communications technology (ICT) to share information between urban traffic man-

agement systems (UTMS) and freight distribution management systems (FDMS) 

for mutual benefit. Lorry drivers and fleet managers should benefit through 

receiving more accurate and more timely information about the traffic network 

(e.g. delays, accidents), while the city authorities who manage the UTMS gain 

knowledge of freight movements and gain an element of control over them to help 

them achieve their policy aims (e.g. low emission zones).

The Research Council 
of Norway 0

  CVIS

 The CVIS project (Cooperative Vehicle-Infrastructure Systems) is a 4-year project 

in the period 2006-2009 with 75 European partners. Q-Free is a central partner in 

the project and is specificly involved in the development of the overall architecture 

and the wireless communication solutions. The objective of CVIS is to develop and 

demonstrate technology enabling continuous communication between vehicles 

and the roadside infrastructure. Such cooperative vehicle-infrastructure systems 

will allow new traffic information-sharing services for greater safety, efficiency and 

a better environment.

EU 0

Total : 3,829

NOTE 6 OTHER OPERATING INCOME   

The Group has received governmental grants of a total of NOK 3,829,000,- in 2007. Corresponding figures for 2006 was 

NOK 5,682,000 and NOK 306,000 for 2005.

The Group is a partner in several projects under The Research Council of Norway and  projects initiated by the EU. 

There are no conditions related to the grants that have not been met.
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The Group has also received governmental tax relief for 2007 through SkatteFUNN. This is a tax deduction scheme which 

aim is to increase innovation and enhance value creation in trade and industry. The group has two programs approved for 

tax deduction in 2007. The tax deduction of total NOK 608,000 is accounted as a reduction of personnel expenses. 

NOTE 7 CHANGES IN THE GROUP STRUCTURE 

During 2007 the Group has established two new subsidiaries. Q-Free Sverige AB was established during November 2007 

and is 100% owned by Q-Free ASA. The company is established to conduct the group’s business activities in Sweden 

which presently consist mainly of service and maintenance for the “Trängselsskatten i Stockholm” project.  In addition, 

Q-Free (Thailand) Co. Ltd. was established for entering the Thai market and provide electronic toll collection on the 

Bangkok Southern Outer Ringroad project. Q-Free (Thailand) Co. Ltd. is owned by Q-Free ASA 48%, Noca Holding AS 

1% and the remaining 51% is held by several Thai owners. Q-Free ASA has negative control of the company through the 

company’s articles of association. Q-Free ASA fully consolidates Q-Free (Thailand) Co. Ltd. Q-Free (Thailand) Co. Ltd. is 

in the process of applying to Thai trade authorities (Board of Investment) for a 100% ownership of Q-Free (Thailand) Co. 

Ltd. by Q-Free ASA. 

NOTE 8 SALARIES AND PERSONNEL RELATED ExPENSES

NOK 1,000 2007 2006 2005

Grants recognised as other income related to cost in same period 3,829 5,682 306

Grants accounted as reduction of personell expenses  (Skattefunn) 608 1,600 0

TOTAL 4,437 7,282 306

PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000 GROUP

2005 2006 2007 2007 2006 2005

41,371 44,317 56,002 Salaries 88,382 74,011 68,398

7,794 7,764 8,449 Social security 11,231 9,978 9,616

2,067 2,218 2,630 Pension costs 3,859 3,363 2,439

0 -1,600 -608 Skattefunn (governmental tax relief) -724 -1,985 0

3,951 -11,214 -11,635 Other personnel related expenses -9,131 -6,642 4,447

-10,042 0 0 Salaries wages etc., discontinued operations -10,043

45,140 41,486 54,838 Total 93,617 78,724 74,859

84 89 98 Average number of employees 198 188 181

82 88 95 Average number of man-years 192 186 177
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Payments to senior management and board of 
directors 2006 :

2006

NOK  1,000 Salary Bonus
Taxable benefit on 

exercise of options *
Pension service 

cost
Director’s 

remuneration
TOTAL

Ole Jørgen Fredriksen, Chairman of the Board 1,996.0 187.5 22,183.5

Harald Arnet, Board member 998.0 137.5 1,135.5

Christian Albech, Board member 998.0 137.5 1,135.5

Kristin Braa, Board member 129.1 129.1

Torild Skogsholm, Board member 62.5 62.5

Pål Rune Johansen, Employee representative 31.3 31.3

Anders Hagen, Employee representative 31.3 31.3

Øyvind Isaksen, CEO 616.7 250.0 41.3 908.0

Marianne Sandal, Vice President Operations 95.8 7.8 103.6

Geir Ove Kjesbu, Vice President R&D 1,407.5 175.0 1,996.0 56.6 3,635.1

Roar Østbø, CFO 1,118.4 123.8 190.0 93.2 1,525.4

Oddvar Solemsli, Marketing Director 778.7 93.8 220.0 90.1 1,182.5

**Per Jarle Furnes, CTO 694.9 55.0 749.9

**Inge Tennås, Supply Chain Manager 565.1 75.0 371.7 67.8 1,079.6

**Oliver Skisland, Project Manager 593.1 71.5 220.0 48.6 933.2

**Roger Hegglund, Service & Maintenance Manager 522.1 56.3 220.0 27.2 825.5

**Espen Moseng, Project Engineering Manager 571.0 68.8 264.7 40.7 945.2

TOTAL 6,963.3 914.0 7,474.4 528.2 716.6 16,596.6

Payments to senior management and board of 
directors  2007:

2007

NOK  1,000 Salary Bonus
Director’s 

remuneration
Pension service cost

Other 
remuneration

TOTAL

Ole Jørgen Fredriksen, Chairman of the Board 278.3 36.8 315.1

Harald Arnet**, Board member 117.5 3.4 120.9

Christian Albech, Board member 210.0 210.0

Kristin Braa**, Board member 87.5 87.5

Torild Skogsholm, Board member 225.0 225.0

Mimi Kristine Berdal, Board member 120.0 120.0

Svein Ramsay Goli***, Board member 75.0 2.1 77.1

Pål Rune Johansen, Employee elected board member 97.5 97.5

Anders Hagen, Employee elected board member 93.8 93.8

Øyvind Isaksen, Chief Executive Officer 2,041.2 250.0 136.9 2,428.0

Marianne Sandal, Vice President Operations 1,239.0 197.1 1,436.0

Geir Ove Kjesbu, Vice President R&D/Senior advisor 1,417.2 84.0 85.1 1,586.4

Finn Øistein Nordam****, Chief Financial Officer 1,335.0 100.0 142.9 1,577.9

Per Fredrik Ecker*****, Vice President Sales 966.0 133.1 1,099.1

Roar Østbø,*******former CFO 91,7 91,7 91.7

Oddvar Solemsli* 215.4 39.0 113.9 368.3

Stein-Tore Nybodahl, HR Manager 703.3 8.4 130.8 842.5

Steinar Furan, Quality Manager 710.8 32.2 81.3 824.3

Hans Christian Bolstad ******, Vice President R&D 462.9 0.0 151.8 614.7

TOTAL 9,182.5 513.6 1,304.6 1,172.8 42.3 12,215.8

* The companys cost of share based payment is calculated with the Black & Scholes pricing model. For 2006 this adds up to a total cost of NOK 1.479.140,-. 
Corresponding figures for 2005 was NOK 2.370.308,-. See this specified in the Statement of changes in Equity (Group).
** These employees were the former senior management until 01.12.2006.

* Oddvar Solemsli had the position as Marketing Director until 28.02.2007. 
** Harald Arnet and Kristin Braa resigned as board members at the Annual General Meeting 10 May 2007.    
*** Svein Ramsay Goli served as board member in the period 10 May to 16 October 2007.    
**** Finn Øistein Nordam entered the position as CFO 1 March 2007.     
***** Per Fredrik Ecker entered the position as VP Sales 1 February 2007.     
****** Hans Christian Bolstad entered the position as VP R&D 15 July 2007.
******* Roar Østbø resigned as CFO 31 January 2007.     
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NOK 1,000 2007 2007 2006 2006 2005 2005

Parent comp. Group Parent comp. Group Parent comp. Group

Audit services 307 615 459 769 920 1,269

Other audit related services 63 69 23 26 72 80

Tax services 117 217 285 364 403 481

Other, non audit related services 202 209 69 72 128 129

Total 689 1,110 837 1,231 1,523 1,960

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
AND NOTES

The CEO has a performance bonus linked to achieved sales level, level of earnings and quality goals. The upper limit for 

the bonus is 80% of the fiscal year’s salary.  The company has limited obligations to the CEO in the event of resignation 

beyond the ordinary six months notice. The CEO has 675.000 share options in the company.

No loans or guarantees have been provided to the Chief Executive Officer, Board members, shareholders or close 

associates of these individuals. 

The former CEO Mr. Geir Ove Kjesbu has an agreement that the company will cover all expenses in relation with the 

MBA program attended to at INSEAD. The upper limit for this remuneration is NOK 850.000,-. The education finished in 

December 2007. Kjesbu held position as VP R&D until 15. July 2007 and as Senior Advisor to the CEO the remaining part 

of 2007.

PRINCIPLES FOR REMUNERATION AND OTHER EMPLOYMENT TERMS FOR THE CEO AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT.

The principles for remuneration and other employment terms can be summarized as follows:

The guiding principles is that remuneration and other employment terms for company management shall be competitive 

to ensure that Q-Free can attract and retain skilled persons in the management. The fixed salary element shall be 

competitive and reflect the individual’s area of responsibility and performance. In addition to the fixed salary, a variable 

salary (bonus) may be paid. The variable salary element may amount to a maximum of 80% for the CEO and maximum 

40% for the management team of the fixed annual salary and be based on Q-Free’s fulfillment of certain improvement 

related goals, financial goals and/or other performance related goals. The set of goals are decided yearly by the Board 

of Q-Free and may be related to, for example, financial targets, research & development progress, quality performance 

and/or specific individual improvement targets. In addition to the fixed and variable salary, normally other customary 

benefits, such as company car may be provided in individual cases. In individual cases, other benefits like newspapers/

magazines, private phone and internet/broadband subscription are provided.

In addition to pension benefits provided by law and collective agreements, members of the management employed 

before 1 November 2007 have selected between a defined-benefit pension scheme whereby the amount of the 

individual’s pension comprises 2/3 of annual salary at the time of retirement maximized at 12G and based on a 30 years 

service period or a defined contribution pension scheme. In individual cases, other pension solutions may be considered. 

As of 1 November 2007, all new employees (including new members of the management) are offered a defined 

contribution pension scheme. With regard to notice of termination of employment for management, the notification period 

is mutually 6 months. For CEO, the termination period is extended with 2 months for each year of employment in the 

company, with a maximum termination period of 12 months. In individual cases, other principles for termination periods 

and severance pay may be considered. Share options may be granted to the CEO and management team if a share 

option program has been approved by the Annual General Meeting. 

The principles for remuneration has not been changed during the last year.

AUDIT FEES         

The group has the following audit related fees: (All figures excl. VAT )
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RELATED PARTIES         

The company has for 2007 received and paid invoices for consultancy services from Spinoza AS that totals NOK 250,562. 

Spinoza AS is owned by the chairman of the board Ole Jørgen Fredriksen. All transactions between related parties is 

based on arm length’s principles and the invoicing is according to an agreement between Q-Free ASA and the Chairman 

of the Board concerning consultancy services.       

RELATED PARTIES - TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN GROUP COMPANIES 

The sales to and purchases from related parties are made at normal market prices and has during 2007 mostly consisted 

of product sale from the parent company to its subsidiaries. The prices are based on arm length’s principles. Outstanding 

balances at the year-end are unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no guarantees 

provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. 

For further information regarding related parties, see Note 22. 

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES        

Q-Free ASA has not had ownership in associated companies in 2007.

NOTE 9 SHARE OPTION PROGRAMME FOR EMPLOYEES      

Q-Free ASA established in May 2006 a three year share option program. According to the Board’s proposal it was 

unanimously resolved that the Board, as part of the work of giving key personnel, management and Board members 

elected by the shareholders an incentive program, through the possibility to subscribe shares in the company, the 

Board of Directors was authorized to increase the share capital with as much as NOK 969,000, which corresponds to 

2,550,000 shares (approximately 5%), each with a par value of NOK 0.38, through one or more private placements with 

cash deposits towards key personnel, management and Board members elected by the shareholders in Q-Free ASA. The 

existing shareholders’ preferential rights according to the Public Limited Companies Act sections 10-4 and 10-5 can be 

disregarded. The authorization given in 2006 was valid for two years. 

The authorization was renewed at the Annual General meeting 10 May 2007 for a period of 2 years to be able to execute the 

approved  three years incentive program. Due to changes within the organization the latest year, a minor increase in the new 

authorization compared to the previous authorization was proposed and approved; from NOK 969,000 to NOK 1,026,000 

(equivalent to 5,17 % of the share capital) which corresponds to 2,700,000 shares, each with a par value of NOK 0.38.

The authorization regards the implementation of a share options program in Q-Free ASA, which runs over a period of 3 

years for key personnel and management, and 2 years for Board Members elected by the shareholders. 600,000 shares are 

reserved for Board Members elected by the shareholders, and the remaining 2,100,000 shares are reserved for the share 

option program for key personnel and management. There will not be paid any option premium. The strike price shall be 

equal to the average share price for the Q-Free ASA shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange on closing time the last 14 days 

prior to and the first 14 days subsequent to the ordinary General Meeting in the same year as the subscription of the shares.

For key personnel and management who are awarded option rights for a period of 3 years, 1/3 of the options can be exercised annually. 

Correspondingly, ½ of the options can be exercised annually for Board Members elected by the shareholders. For newly employed key 

personnel, management and Board members, the strike price will be determined on the day they join the share option program. 

By 31.12.2007, 2,415,000 shares have been granted to key personnel, of which 450,000 shares have been granted to the 

board of directors.      
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Exercise of the options can be done during pre-defined time periods.

The companys cost of share based payment is calculated with the Black & Scholes pricing model. For 2007 this adds up 

to a total cost of NOK 1,266.100. Corresponding figures for 2006 was NOK 1,479,140. See this specified in the Statement 

of changes in Equity (Group). There has been no options exercised in 2007.

Market value of share options are estimated according to Black & Scholes pricing model. Average market value of 

granted share options in 2007 is NOK 2.27.

Remaining share options has the following conditions:

NOK 1,000 2007 2006

Remaining share options 01.01 1,800,000 0

Share options granted 1,105,000 1,800,000

Share options exercised 0

Share options expired -490,000 0

Remaining share options 31.12 2,905,000 1,800,000

Portion fully earned 1,760,000 0

Year Expiry date Average price Number NOK 1,000

Year 1 7 May 2009 22.04 855,000

Year 2 7 May 2009 14.73 905,000

Year 3 7 May 2009 * 655,000

*  The strike price shall be equal to the average share price for the Q-Free ASA shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange on closing time the last 14 days prior to and 
the first 14 days subsequent to the ordinary General Meeting in 2008. For newly employed key personnel, management and Board members, the strike price will 
be determined on the day they join the share option program. 

THE FOLLOWING ASSUMPTIONS ARE USED IN THE CALCULATION OF SHARE OPTIONS:     

ExERCISE PRICE FOR THE SHARE OPTION        

The strike price shall be equal to the average share price for the Q-Free ASA shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange on 

closing time the last 14 days prior to and the first 14 days subsequent to the ordinary General Meeting in the same year 

as the subscription of the shares. For newly employed key personnel, management and Board members, the strike price 

will be determined on the day they join the share option program. 

NOK 1,000

Name Position Granted options Earned   options Exercised options Remaining options

Øyvind Isaksen CEO 675,000 450,000 0 225,000

Ole Jørgen Fredriksen Chairman 200,000 200,000 0 0

Christian Albech Member 100,000 100,000 0 0

Mimi Kristine Berdal Member 50,000 50,000 0 0

Torild Skogsholm Member 100,000 100,000 0 0

Finn Øistein Nordam CFO 150,000 100,000 0 50,000

Geir Ove Kjesbu Senior Advisor 150,000 100,000 0 50,000

Marianne Sandal VP Operation 150,000 100,000 0 50,000

Steinar Furan QA Manager 45,000 30,000 0 15,000

Stein Tore Nybrodahl HR Manager 45,000 30,000 0 15,000

Per Fredrik Ecker VP Sales 150,000 100,000 0 50,000

Hans Christian Bolstad VP R&D 150,000 100,000 0 50,000

Other employees 450,000 300,000 0 150,000
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VOLATILITY         

The calculation is based on historic volatility as an indicator for future expected volatility. Future expected volatility is 35,1 %.

LIFETIME OF THE SHARE OPTION        

The calculation is based on 75% of the employees and 90% of the Board members will exercise the share options at the 

time they are granted. All share options shall be exercised prior to 7 May 2009. 

DIVIDENDS         

Expected dividends per share is NOK 0 each year.       

         

INTEREST WITH NO PREMIUM FOR RISK        

Interest with no premium for risk is used when calculating this equals interest on long term state bonds at 4,7 % for 2007.

NOTE 10 PENSION SCHEME        

The majority of the employees in Norway are included in a pension plan which entitles them to certain benefits for 

pension in the future. The pension benefits are mainly dependable on numbers of years employed, salary level at age of 

retirement and size of payments. The foreign subsidiaries have no pension plans.

The pension plans for the Norwegian companies are secured in an insurance company. The liability for the group 

includes 147 employees in 2007, compared to 128 employees for 2006. The liability for the parent company includes 97 

employees in 2007, compared to 78 employees for 2006. During 2007 42 of 97 employees transferred from the defined 

benefit to the defined contribution pension plan.

         

        PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000 GROUP

2005 2006 2007 2007 2006 2005

1,624 1,928 4,144 Net present value of current year's pension earnings 5,217 2,950 2,106

502 682 881 Interest on accrued pension liabilities 1,297 1,114 758

-436 -566 -678 Expected interest on pension funds -1,124 -975 -794

124 70 -4,575 Amortisation of past service cost -4,551 0 124

0 0 2,730 Amortisation of actuarial (gain)/ losses 2,761 70 0

0 126 128 Administrative expences pension scheme 258 251 71

253 316 464 Accrued social security expenses 622 481 175

2,067 2,556 3,094 Net pension expenses 4,478 3,890 2,440

31.12.05 31.12.06 31.12.07 Pension liabilities / (-funds) 31.12.07 31.12.06 31.12.05

11,888 19,714 16,227 Estimated pension liabilities 26,102 28,039 18,641

-9,000 -11,410 -9,866 Estimated pension funds -20,009 -19,267 -16,293

2,888 8,304 6,362 Estimated net (pension funds) / -liabilities 6,093 8,772 2,348

-2,709 -8,341 -7,059 Unrecognised change in pension plan and deviation in estimates -6,912 -9,185 -3,648

179 -37 -697 Net (pension funds) / -liabilities -819 -414 -1,300

179 -37 -697 Net (pension funds) / -liabilities in balance sheet -819 -414 -1,300

30 22 22 Estimated remaining contribution periods 20 20 26
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NOK 1,000 PARENT COMPANY GROUP

Pension liabilities : 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Liabilities per 01.01. 19,714 11,888 9,904 28,039 18,641 15,689

Service costs 4,144 1,928 1,624 5,217 2,950 2,543

Benefits paid -258 -128 -84 -483 -330 -290

Interest cost 881 682 415 1,297 1,114 574

Past service cost -6,385 1,026 29 -6,385 0 126

Actuarial gains/losses -1,868 4,318 0 -1,582 5,665 0

Total liabilities per 31.12. 16,227 19,714 11,888 26,102 28,039 18,641

NOK 1,000 PARENT COMPANY

Pension funds : 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Funds per 01.01. 11,410 9,000 6,778 19,267 16,292 13,797

Net contribution paid 3,162 2,309 1,982 3,609 3,029 2,521

Benefits paid -258 -128 -84 -483 -330 -290

Estimated return on assets 678 566 372 1,520 975 385

Actuarial gains/losses -3,316 -336 -49 -2,093 -700 -120

Acquisition / (disposal) -1,811 0 0 -1,811 0 0

Total funds per 31.12. 9,866 11,410 9,000 20,009 19,267 16,292

The Group expects to contribute approximatly NOK 5,100,000 to its pension plans in 2008, corresponding figures for 

2007 was NOK 3,000,000.  

         

BASIS AND ASSUMPTIONS FOR CALCULATIONS:       

The assumptions are according to the recommendation of the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway for both 2005, 

2006 and for 2007. 

The Group’s pension fund is managed by Vital Forsikring Finansforvaltning, an insurance company. 

For 2007 the dividend yield was 9,5%.  The funds are distributed as follows :

2007 2006 2005

Discount rate 4.70% 4.50% 4.50%

Expected interest on pension funds 5.75% 5.50% 5.50%

Annual growth in salaries 4.50% 4.50% 3.30%

Increase in national insurance base rate (G) 4.25% 4.25% 3.50%

Expected change in pensions 2.00% 1.60% 2.50%

Social security expenses 14.10% 14.10% 14.10%

Corridor 10.00% 10.00% 10.00%

Table K2005 is used for definition of mortality 
rate probability. 

Expected voluntarily early
retirement :

Before 40 years 2% 2% 2%

After 40 years 0% 0% 0%

2007 2006 2005

Shares 25% 30% 23%

Bonds 28% 21% 18%

Money market 7% 4% 17%

Long term bonds 21% 29% 27%

Property 16% 13% 12%

Other 3% 3% 3%

Total 100% 100% 100%

GROUP
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NOTE 11 INVENTORY AND COSTS OF GOODS SOLD

Inventory :

NOTE 12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND TANGIBLE FIxED ASSETS

All inventories is valuated at lower of cost and net realisable value.

         

Costs of goods sold :        

SECURITIES FOR BANK GUARANTEES AND OVERDRAFT FACILITY    

As of 31.12.07 assets in the parent company valued to NOK 41,191,985,- is pledged as security for guarantee facility in 

DnB NOR Bank ASA.        

PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000 GROUP

2005 2006 2007 Inventory specification : 2007 2006 2005

14,739 15,278 15,060 Raw material and semi manufactured products 29,590 25,137 20,925

130 117 101 Stock for sub supplier 101 117 130

3,431 3,431 2,936 Stock for maintenance contracts 2,936 3,431 3,431

0 0 0 Work in progress 7,417 7,448 6,208

17,258 16,818 11,342 Finished goods 11,779 20,362 17,258

-279 -4,148 -3,336 Obsolescence -9,532 -4,448 -579

35,279 31,496 26,103 Total 42,291 52,047 47,373

PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000 GROUP

2005 2006 2007 COGS spesification : 2007 2006 2005

231,189 130,315 124,007 Purchase of goods 161,845 162,515 252,905

313 87 263 Freight, customs etc. 705 614 805

199 63 3,162 External services handling of COGS 3,162 63 218

-19,375 -4,704 -5,393 Change of inventories -4,730 -9,087 -20,628

212,326 125,760 122,038 Total 160,981 154,104 233,300

PARENT COMPANY            NOK 1,000 Development Machinery and fixtures Total

Acquisition cost as of 01.01 64,896 79,046 143,942

Additions  26,755 21,422 48,177

Disposals 0 0 0

Acquisition cost as of 31.12 91,651 100,467 192,118

Accumulated depreciation and write-downs as of 01.01 42,176 48,797 90,973

Depreciation of the year 4,398 9,124 13,522

Write-downs of the year 5,066 1,354 6,420

Accumulated depreciation disposals 0 0 0

Accumulated depreciation and write-downs as of  31.12 51,640 59,275 110,915

Net book value as of 01.01 22,720 30,248 52,969

Total changes of the year 17,291 10,944 28,235

Net book value as of 31.12 40,011 41,192 81,203

Economical lifetime 4-5 years 5-10 years

Depreciation schedule Straight line Straight line
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GROUP NOK 1,000 Development Machinery and fixtures Total

Acquisition cost as of 01.01 66,267 121,732 187,999

Additions  26,755 21,829 48,584

Disposals 0 0 0

Acquisition cost as of 31.12 93,022 143,561 236,583

Accumulative depreciation and write-downs as of 1.1 42,978 76,458 119,437

Depreciation and of the year 4,658 12,342 16,977

Write-down of the year 5,066 1,354 6,420

Accumulated depreciation disposals 0 0 0

Accumulated depreciation and write-downs as of  31.12 52,702 90,155 142,857

Net book value as of 01.01 23,288 45,274 68,562

Total changes of the year 17,031 8,132 25,163

Net book value as of 31.12 40,320 53,406 93,726

Economical lifetime 4-5 years 5-10 years

Depreciation schedule Straight line Straight line

GROUP NOK 1,000                               2007                 2006             2005

Fixed assets

Machinery and equipment leased as fixed assets 1,797 2,515 4,223

This' year depreciations on leased fixed assets 719 719 572

Debt

Leasing obligations as long-term debt 0 1,042 0

DEVELOPMENT          

The group capitalises costs regarding product development activities. Capitalised costs for 2007 consist of product 

development of a new generations of OBU’s and road side units that is a part of the company’s toll road systems. 

Furthermore, the company has capitalised cost that prepares the company’s products for future wireless communication 

solutions that enables continuous communication between vehicles and the roadside infrastructure. Such cooperative 

vehicle-infrastructure systems will allow new traffic information-sharing services for greater safety, efficiency and a better 

environment.

For 2007 research-expenses taken over the P&L has been immaterial.      

Capitalised costs mainly consists of personnel expenses, purchase of materials, as well as external services. Product 

development is depreciated over the products expected lifetime. The estimated useful lifetime is continuously evaluated.

IMPAIRMENT TEST OF DEVELOPMENT

Each product development are recognized as individual projects. The management calculates the recoverable amount 

per product using cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by the board of directors covering a five-

year period. Cash flow calculations are sensitive to assumptions regarding gross margin, discount rate, raw material 

price, inflation and market share during the budget period. These assumptions are being evaluated individually per 

development project.  

NOTE 13 LEASES

CAPITALISED FINANCIAL LEASES
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NOK 1,000 PARENT COMPANY GROUP

Duration period Within 1 year 1 - 5 years Over 5 years Within 1 year 1 - 5 years Over 5 years

Annual lease of machinery and fixed assets 8,267 6,818 0 10,605 9,633 0

The leasing obligation and the book value of the leased equipment materially differs due to the fact that the debt related 

to the leased equipment already is partly repaid. 

Estimated period of lease is 5 years from time of investment.      

The leasing agreement is valid until one of the parties gives a written notice. Mutual term of notice is six months. If the 

agreement is terminated, Q-Free is obligated to purchase from the supplier already produced goods at fixed prices, 

received raw materials and other commitments that can not be cancelled, and cover expenses in relation to started 

production. Remaining lease payments are NOK 421,733, that is due within the first six months of 2008 and reclassified 

as short term debt.

In case the agreement is terminated, Q-Free has a right of and a duty to repurchase any production equipment, that is the 

property of the supplier and which is invested specifically for Q-Free products. The repurchase price is set equal to the 

investment value (including incurred interest), less depreciated value (including interest) at the date of repurchase. When 

the investment is fully depreciated according to plan, the repurchase value is set to NOK 0.

OPERATIONAL LEASES

Leasing agreements not stated in balance sheet

The main part of leasing agreements not stated in the balance sheet is leasing of the company’s office facilities in Norway. 

Q-Free ASA is leasing its office facilities in Trondheim from Tekno Byggutleie AS. The leasing contract is running until 1 

September 2012, with an option for two more periods of five years. The other leasing contracts are running from one to 

five years.

NOTE 14 OTHER OPERATING ExPENSES

Specification:

PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000 GROUP

2005 2006 2007 Category: 2007 2006 2005

0 4,713 1,928 Intercompany services 0 0 0

49,991 46,363 43,625 External services 46,923 49,314 55,858

11,752 13,178 15,016 Travelling expenses 16,342 14,679 12,812

332 1,376 1,456 Licence fee and royalties 1,606 1,376 498

12,263 10,241 15,464 Rent, including remaining costs facilities 18,253 13,493 14,895

1,008 1,116 1,651 Leasing machinery, cars, etc. 2,776 1,174 1,054

11 0 2,829 Loss on contracts (receivable) 2,862 394 1,321

12,882 15,904 14,200 Other costs 23,221 27,297 14,428

-21,549 0 0 Net change from discontinued operations 0 0 -21,549

66,691 92,892 96,169 Total 111,983 107,726 79,317
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NOTE 15 ACCRUALS        

NOK 1,000 PARENT COMPANY GROUP

Accrual for 
warranty 

costs

Other 
expenses

Total Accrual for 
warranty 

costs

Other 
expenses

Total

Amount as of 01.01.07 27,500 2,500 30,000 27,600 2,500 30,100

Unused accruals reversed during 2007 -9,039 0 -9,039 -9,039 -9,039

Accruals utilised during 2007 -4,961 -2,500 -7,461 -4,961 -2,500 -7,461

Accruals deposited during 2007 0 0 0 0 200 200

Amount as of  31.12.07 13,500 0 13,500 13,600 200 13,800

The accrual for warranty costs is calculated depending on the remaining guarantee time for various products and based 

on the historical effect of defects and a calculation of probability for the defect to occur for the remaining products under 

warranty. The calculation is made on an individual basis per product and the assumptions are varying for the different 

products and they also take into account the expected expenses associated with new warranty problems that are 

identified. Unused accruals for warranties are dissolved at the end of the guarantee-period.

NOTE 16 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans and overdrafts, financial lease and 

trade payables. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group 

has various financial assets as trade receivables and cash and short-term deposits, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group is exposed to a number of different financial market risks arising from our normal business activities. Financial 

market risk is the possibility that fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates will affect the value of our 

assets, liabilities or future cash flows. The management performs a continuous evaluation of these risks and determines 

policies related to how these risks are to be handled within the Company.

The Company does not use financial instruments, hereunder financial derivatives, for speculation purposes.

Since the Group carries out international operations, it is exposed to a considerable interest-rate risk and exchange-rate 

risk. The Group makes use of derivatives to reduce these risks in accordance with the Group’s strategy for its interest-rate 

and exchange-rate exposure. The carrying amount of short term financial instruments are a reasonable estimate of their 

fair value. The accounting treatment of financial derivatives is described in Note 2.12

CREDIT RISK

The Group is conducting business with parties with an acceptable credit record. To the extent the credit rate is 

questionable, payment guarantees, letter of credit or advance payments will be considered.The Group has no significant 

credit risk linked to an individual other contracting party or several other contracting parties that can be regarded as a 

group due to similarities in the credit risk. The Group has guidelines for ensuring that sales are only made to customers 

that have not experienced any significant settlement problems, and that outstanding amounts do not exceed stipulated 

credit limits. The Group has not provided any guarantees for third parties’ liabilities. 

The maximum risk exposure is represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets, including derivatives, in the 

balance sheet. Since the other party involved in derivative trades is normally a bank, the credit risk linked to derivatives is 

regarded as being slight.  The Group therefore regards its maximum risk exposure as being the carrying amount of trade

receivables, per 31.12.07 NOK 94.6 mill (2006: NOK 88.7). See note 18 for further information. 
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The Group is exposed to risk involved in customers not having the ability to fulfil their financial obligations.  However, this risk is 

considered to be low since the Company’s customers are major IT companies, public authorities and key road concessionaires 

in Norway and abroad.  This is evidenced by an historically low bad debt ratio on receivables.  When the Company enters a new 

market, the credit risk will be assessed in each individual case and appropriate measures will be taken in order to reduce credit risk. 

INTEREST-RATE RISK

The Group has no considerable financing in interest bearing long term debt. Figures per 31.12.07 is long term debt in 

Noca AS of NOK 2,991,670. Corresponding figures for 2006 was long term debt of NOK 2,350,000 and financial lease of 

NOK 1,042,238.The long term debt has floating interest and yearly instalment of NOK 790,000.

The Group is not presenting a sensitivity analysis regarding interest-rate risk since the effect is assessed to be immaterial.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Q-Free ASA Group’s strategy is to have sufficient cash, cash equivalents or credit opportunities at any time to be able to finance 

its operations and investments over the next three years in accordance with the company’s strategy plan for the same period. 

Surplus liquidity is either deposited in banks or invested in money market funds, with the purpose of obtaining an 

acceptable return on invested capital combined with a low risk.

ExCHANGE-RATE RISK

The Group (primarily the parent company) is exposed to currency fluctuations, particularly with the Euro and US dollar 

as a considerable portion of the Q-Free ASA’s revenues is in foreign currencies.  Q-Free ASA uses futures contracts 

and other hedging instruments to reduce its currency risk and thus reduce the market risk.  The Group strategy is to 

combine very likely future sale and purchase and hedge the net cash flow in the foreign currency by using forward/ future 

contracts. The effects of the forward/ future contracts as efficient hedging instruments are recognised with the transaction 

they are to hedge, while a possible inefficiency in the hedging is recognised as a finance cost. The carrying amount of 

short term financial instruments are a reasonable estimate of their fair value. Forward currency contracts are being used 

to hedge the foreign currency risk of the expected future sales. 

    

FOREIGN ExCHANGE : 

Exchange loss and gain included in the P&L :

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
AND NOTES

PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000 GROUP

2005 2006 2007 Spesification 2007 2006 2005

6,560 6,300 10,390 Gain on exchange 11,970 9,244 8,584

-7,788 -4,270 -8,132 Loss on exchange -8,800 -5,884 -8,781

-1,228 2,030 2,258 Total 3,170 3,360 -197

Forward contracts as of  31.12.06         NOK 1,000 Amount Maturity Exchange rate Fair value

Forward contracts to hedge expected future sales EURO 2 000 000 26/02/2007 8.0681 -339,800

Forward contracts to hedge expected future sales EURO 5 000 000 28/06/2007 8.297 295,000

Forward contracts to hedge expected future sales EURO 5 000 000 28/09/2007 8.299 305,000

260,200 Total per 31.12.2006

The Group holds no forward contracts per 31.12.07

The Group is not presenting a sensitivity analysis regarding exchange rate risk since the effect is assessed to be 

immaterial.



70 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
AND NOTES

NOTE 17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2007 based on 

contractual undiscounted payments. 

Capital management           

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy 

capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value.            

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. In order 

to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return 

capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.           

The Group monitors capital on the basis of its book equity to total equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as book equity 

divided by total equity. It is the Group’s policy that this ratio be 50 per cent or higher. The book equity ratio is calculated 

as total equity divided by total assets as follows.

Currencies : NOK 1,000 Currency rate Average Currency rate

1 Jan 2007 currency rate 31 Dec 2007

Euro EUR 8,238 8,100 7,961

Australian dollar AUD 4.936 4.849 4.763

Malaysian Ringgit MYR 1.772 1.704 1.637

Brazilian real BRL 2.930 2.983 3.037

US Dollar USD 6.255 5.833 5.411

Pounds Sterling GBP 12.268 11.539 10.810

Swedish kroner SEK 90.260 87.625 84.990

Thai bath THB 17.276 17.701 18.125

The following exchange rates are used when consolidating the group.

Year ended 31 December 2006 :
NOK 1,000

On demand
Less than 
3 months

3 to 6
months

6 to 12 
months

> 1 years Total

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 0 150 150 300 600 1,200

Other liabilities 0 1,846 3,481 13,621 0 18,948

Trade and other payables 4,367 52,528 251 0 0 57,146

Other financial liabilities 0 2,772 5,501 0 0 8,273

Sum 4,367 57,296 9,383 13,921 600 85,567

Year ended 31 December 2007 :
NOK 1,000

On demand
Less than 
3 months

3 to 6
months

6 to 12 
months

> 1 years Total

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 0 197 197 395 790 1,579

Other liabilities 0 3,483 0 8,812 0 12,295

Trade and other payables 1,387 37,627 2,133 0 0 41,147

Other financial liabilities 0 968 6,444 0 0 7,412

Sum 1,387 42,275 8,774 9,207 790 62,433

Pr 31. December NOK 1,000                               2007                 2006

Total equity 300,596 295,505

Total assets 393,055 426,395

Book equity ratio 76% 69%
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As at 31 December, the aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows : 

The Group is assessing the needs for provision for doubtful debt on an individual basis per customer or per project.

NOTE 18 ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES

PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000        GROUP

2006 2007 2007 2006

68,208 71,718 Customer receivables 98,732 95,469

17,135 17,168 Receivables from group companies 0 0

-12,487 -9,873 Provision for doubtful debts -4,168 -6,782

72,856 79,013 Total 94,564 88,687

15,548 10,543 Loss on receivables 10,575 544

-14,348 -7,713 Changes in provisions for doubtful debts -7,713 -150

1,200 2,830 Total 2,862 394

Neither past 
due nor impaired

Amounts per 31.12 NOK 1,000 Total < 30 days 30 – 60 days 60 – 90 day 90 – 120 day > >120 days

2007 98,732 49,293 30,313 6,665 3,082 1,199 8,180

2006 95,469 40,273 17,249 7,257 2,211 4,626 23,853

Specification of provision for doubtful debt :
Specification of provisjon for doubtful debt: NOK 1,000                               2007                 2006

Amount per 01.01. 6,782 6,388

This years provision for doubtful debt -3,869 -150

Loss on receivables 10,575 544

Provisions utilised during the year -9,320 0

Amount per 31.12 4,168 6,782

Parent company and group NOK 1,000                               2007                 2006 2006

Revenue on-going projects 239,934 106,125 240,745

Expenses on-going projects -157,597 -41,406 -178,538

Profit on on-going projects per 31.12. 82,337 64,719 62,207

NOTE 19 ON GOING PROJECTS

The Group’s main business activity is to develop and manufacture products and systems as well as provision of service and maintenance 

based on orders received. The Group reports gross balance sheet values attached to long-term production contracts. Gross amounts 

due from customers for contract work (Projects in progress) are recognised on the balance sheet as an asset, and gross amounts due 

to customers for contract work (Prepayments from customers) are recognised on the balance sheet as a liability. Projects in progress are 

the net amount of accumulated operating revenues less accumulated invoicing for all ongoing contracts where accumulated operating 

revenues are higher than accumulated invoicing. Prepayments from customers are the net amount of accumulated operating revenues less 

accumulated invoicing for all ongoing contracts where accumulated invoicing is higher than accumulated operating revenues.

Each project is monitored individally and is being measured against the updated project prognosis. The estimated accrued 

contract profit shall not exceed a proportional share of the estimated total contract profit. The proportional share of the contract is 

based on the degree of completion of the individual contract, which is largely determined by the costs incurred as a ratio of the 

expected overall cost at the time of valuation. If the profit on a contract cannot be estimated with a reasonable degree of certanty, 

the project will be recognised without a profit until the uncertanty is manageable. All projects are followed up on an ongoing basis 

with project costing.  In the event a project calculation shows a loss, this loss will be expensed immediately in its entirety.  

Past due 
but not impaired
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NOTE 20 TAxES

PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000        GROUP

2006 2007 Specification 2007 2006

Total tax expenses for the year

-15,222 0 Tax payable on this years profit for Norwegian companies -3,979 -15,957

0 0 Tax payable on this years profit for foreign companies -2,117 -2,089

0 79 Adjusted allocated tax from last year -79 0

9,885 3,401 Change in deferred tax for Norwegian companies -2,328 9,487

0 0 Change in deferred tax for foreign companies -1,037 -2,597

-5,336 3,480 Total -9,540 -11,157

19% 35% Tax rate 66% 25%

Tax payable for the year

27,369 9,853 Total ordinary profit before tax 14,555 45,024

-8,311 2,289 Permanent differences 18,256 -8,514

35,305 -12,143 Change in temporary differences -11,522 29,628

54,363 0 Basis for tax payable, Norwegian companies 21,289 66,139

15,222 0 Tax payable for Norwegian companies (28%) 4,042 16,614

Tax payable for foreign companies 2,811 2,089

Specification of tax payable in the balance sheet

15,222 0 Tax payable on this years profit, Norwegian companies 4,042 16,614

0 0 Tax payable on group contribution 0 0

0 0 Tax payable on this years profit, foreign companies 2,811 2,089

0 0 Advance tax payment, foreign companies -2,579 0

0 0 Carried forward tax compensation 0 0

-1,600 0 Governmental Tax Relief (skattefunn) -116 -1,600

13,622 0 Total tax payable 4,159 17,103

Specification on basis for deferred tax

Differences evaluated to be offset:

14,824 17,639 Fixed assets 20,169 15,646

-17,847 -9,678 Current assets -16,321 -20,554

-30,959 -13,516 Liabilities -15,094 -30,682

0 -16,334 Tax losses carry -forward -18,341 -6,943

-51 0 Other differences 0 -41

-34,032 -21,888 Total -29,587 -42,574

PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000 GROUP

2005 2006 2007 Category 2007 2006 2005

0 617 8,028 Recognised, not invoiced revenue 8,028 617 0

The following table specifies accrued income per 31.12                                 
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PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000        GROUP

2006 2007 Specification 2007 2006

-9,529 -6,129 Deferred tax (+) / tax assets (-) -8,904 -11,832

Deferred tax  (-) / tax assets (+) in balance sheet of 31.12.

-9,529 -6,129 Tax assets (-)/ deferred tax (+) Norwegian companies -8,521 -11,167

0 0 Tax assets (-)/ deferred tax (+) foreign companies -383 -665

0 0 Tax assets (-)/ deferred tax (+) on group contribution -1,749 0

0 0 Deferred tax asset, off balance sheet 0 0

-9,529 -6,129 Total tax assets (-) / deferred tax (+) -10,654 -11,832

Reconciling the tax cost

7,663 2,759 Tax on accounting result -4,354 12,932

-5,336 -3,480 Tax expenses -9,540 -11,157

2,327 -721 Deviation 5,186 1,775

Specification

2,327 -641 Tax result permanent differences -4,551 2,103

0 -79 Adjusted allocated tax from last year 0 0

0 0 Change in deferred tax asset, off balance sheet -562 -328

0 0 Change in deferred tax asset, off balance sheet demerger -73 0

0 0 Remuneration on dividend paid 0 0

2,327 -720 Total -5,186 1,775

Deferred tax assets are recognised on the balance sheet based on the expectation of future taxable income. The estimate 

are based on board of directors and management’s best judgement and an assessment of future prospects. The actual 

outcome of future tax costs may deviate from these estimates.

Of the tax losses carried forward of NOK 18,341,185 for the Group, NOK 16,333,715 relates to Norway and NOK 

2,007,470 relates to foreign companies. Following a change in the tax legislation in Norway in 2005, these tax losses can 

be carried forward indefinitely. 

For 2006 NOK 6,943,254 of the tax losses carried forward for the Group, was related to Norway, and NOK 4,599,601 was 

related to foreign companies.

NOTE 21 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders 

of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 

parent (after deducting interest on the convertible preference shares) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion 

of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
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NOTE 22 SUBSIDIARIES

BOOK VALUE IN PARENT COMPANY OF SUBSIDIARIES COMPANIES: 

Established Location Country Ownership Voting share Functional currency

Q-Free Portugal Lda. 1997 Lisbon Portugal 100% 100% EUR

Q-Free América Latina Ltda. 1998 Sao Paolo Brasil 100% 100% BRL

Q-Free Australia Pty. Ltd. 1999 Sydney Australia 100% 100% AUD

Q-Free Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 1997 Kuala Lumpur Malaysia 100% 100% MYR

Noca Holding AS – Group (*) 2001 Trondheim Norway 100% 100% NOK

Q-Free Sverige AB 2007 Stockholm Sweden 100% 100% SEK

Q-Free Thailand Co Ltd (**) 2007 Bangkok Thailand 49% 49% THB

NOK 1,000 Cost Book value 
31.12.06

Book value 
31.12.07

Taken over       
the P&L

Companys equity 
per 31.12.07

Result after tax 
last year

Q-Free Portugal Lda. 204 204 204 0 481 -318

Q-Free América Latina Ltda. 4,853 2,407 2,407 0 2,429 1,878

Q-Free Australia Pty. Ltd. 0 0 0 0 13,676 6,279

Q-Free Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 1,155 0 0 0 -824 -2,007

Noca Holding AS – Group 4,592 5,028 6,715 0 25,104 7,998

Q-Free Sverige AB (*) 84 0 0

Q-Free Thailand Ltd (*) 0 0

Total 10,804 7,639 9,410 0

(*) Q-Free ASA owns through Noca Holding AS indirectly 48,72 % in Noca AS. Q-Free ASA owns directly 4,76 % in Noca AS. Q-Free ASA’s indirect and direct 
ownership in Noca AS therefore totals 53.48%.
         
(**) Q-Free ASA owns through Noca Holding AS indirectly 1,0 % in Q-Free Thailand Co Ltd. Q-Free ASA owns directly 48,0 % in Q-Free Thailand Co Ltd.  Q-Free 
ASA’s owner share through indirectly and directly ownership in Q-Free Thailand Co Ltd therefore totals 49,0%. Q-Free ASA has negative control of the company 
through the company’s articles of association.

*  For further information regarding subsidiaries established during 2007, see Note 7.

NOK 1,000                               2007                 2006 2006

Ordinary result / annual result 1,337 32,181 93,940

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 52,274 51,779 50,810

Weighted average of share option 0 65,685 355,316

Weighted average number of diluted shares 52,274 51,844 51,165

Earnings per share (NOK) 0.03 0.62 1.84

Diluted earnings per share (NOK) 0.03 0.62 1.83

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the 

reporting date and the date of completion of these financial statements.
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NOK 1,000 Company's 
share capital

Number of shares Ownership Book value in 
Parent**

Book value in 
Group**

Taken over                                   
the P&L

Vegamot AS 4,355 6,050 13.90% 0 0 0

Leiv Eiriksson AS 32,360 9,919 0.99% 326 326 6

Asti AS 8,880 2,900 13.81% 1,397 1,397 171

Other 0 91 0

Total 1,723 1,814 177

Q-Free VOF, Nederland (ANS) * 20 20 0

Total 1,743 1,834 177

(*) Q-Free VOF Nederland is a Joint Venture Company, established in 1998. The allotment has been shown after gross costs. 
(**) The book value of investments in shares is classified as financial assets at fair value.

NOTE 23 INVESTMENTS IN SHARES IN OTHER COMPANIES

PARENT COMPANY AND THE GROUP

 

PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000        GROUP

2006 2007 Liquidity funds 2007 2006

127,537 101,206 Total cash and cash equivalents 124,283 162,174

3,160 3,860 Restricted funds for witholding tax 4,628 3,160

124,377 97,346 Unrestricted liquid assets 119,655 159,014

NOTE 24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying 

periods between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and the 

interest earnings at the respective short-term deposit rates. The group has a multiple currency account agreement in DnB 

NOR Bank ASA.   

NOTE 25 INVESTOR RELATIONS 

The company has one class of shares and there is no voting restrictions. Per 31.12.07 the number of shares was 

52,274,269. Face value per share is kr. 0.38. Total share capital per 31.12.2007 was kr. 19,864,222.22. There are 1,450 

share holders.

Ordinary shares                               2007                 2006 2006

Shares issued per 01.01 52,274,269 50,909,269 50,644,269

Share options excercised 0 1,365,000 265,000

Total shares issued per. 31.12. 52,274,269 52,274,269 50,909,269

At 31 December 2007, the Group had available NOK  83.4 mill (2006: NOK 81.9 mill) of undrawn committed guarantee 

facilities in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met.          

As at December 2007, the Group had available NOK 83.4 mill (2006: NOK 81.9 mill) of undrawn committed guarantee 

facilities in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met.     
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Number of shares held by the senior management, CEO and the board of directors :

At the end of 2007 2,905,000 shares are reserved according to the share option program descibed in Note 9. 

Name Position              Shares

Øyvind Isaksen CEO 30,000

Geir Ove Kjesbu Vice President R&D / Senior advisor 11,500

Marianne Sandal VP Operations 10,000

Steinar Furan QM Manager 18,000

Stein Tore Nybrodahl HR Manager 3,500

Ole Jørgen Fredriksen Chairman of the Board 150,000

Total 223,000

The company’s largest share holders per 31.12.07: Number of shares Percentage ownership Voting rights

Verdipapirfond Odin Norge 4,594,300 8.79% 8.79%

Verdipapirfondet Nordea Vekst 3,392,750 6.49% 6.49%

Skagen Vekst 2,607,000 4.99% 4.99%

Rams As 2,107,000 4.03% 4.03%

Mons Holding As 1,928,000 3.69% 3.69%

Jpmblsa , Nordea Lux Lending Account 1,678,000 3.21% 3.21%

Kikut As 1,650,000 3.16% 3.16%

Andresen , Lars Oddgeir 1,633,600 3.13% 3.13%

Redback As 1,425,000 2.73% 2.73%

Handelsbanken Markets 1,300,000 2.49% 2.49%

Storebrand Livsforsikring As 1,299,900 2.49% 2.49%

Silvercoin Industries As 1,206,500 2.31% 2.31%

Saga Equity Fund 1,069,500 2.05% 2.05%

Verdipapirfondet Nordea Avkastning 990,025 1.89% 1.89%

Mathias Holding As 840,000 1.61% 1.61%

Aunaas , Ole 750,000 1.43% 1.43%

Danske Bank A/S 622,000 1.19% 1.19%

Verdipapirfondet Danske Fund Nor 616,639 1.18% 1.18%

Rbc Trust Company (Jersey) Limited 600,000 1.15% 1.15%

Verdipapirfondet Nordea Smb 539,700 1.03% 1.03%

Other Share Holders 21,424,355 40.98% 40.98%

Total 52,274,269 100.0% 100.0%
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PARENT COMPANY NOK 1,000        GROUP

2006 2007 2007 2006

BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENT

Guarantees and loans secured by mortgage

0 0 Long-term liabilities 2,992 2,350

0 0 Short-term liabilities 0 0

0 0 Total 2,992 2,350

Book value of assets securing mortgages and guarantees  

72,856 79,012 Accounts receivable 79,012 72,856

617 8,028 Revenue recognised, not invoiced revenue 8,028 617

31,496 26,103 Inventories 40,913 46,970

30,248 41,192 Tangible assets 45,626 36,739

135,217 154,335 Total 173,580 157,182

OFF BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENT
 

44,804 46,607 Guarantees to customers, suppliers and lease contracts  46,607 48,108

NOTE 26 BALANCE AND OFF BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS
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We did Stockholm

The city of Stockholm is a fast growing 

city, putting a big pressure on the city’s 

road infrastructure. As a response to this 

challenge the city council decided to 

deploy a congestion tax charging scheme 

based on the use of electronic toll 

collection.

Q-Free supplied the complete road side 

system, On Board Units (OBU) and 

operational services to the Stockholm 

Congestion Tax Charging System. The 

system was a great success for all 

involved parties involved and after a year 

of service the results speak for themselves.
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